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Notice of Annual General Meeting
Notice is hereby given that the Forty-Seventh Annual 
General Meeting of Pan-Jamaican Investment Trust 
Limited will be held at the 12th Floor, 60 Knutsford 
Boulevard, Kingston 5, on Tuesday June 21, 2011, at 
2:30 p.m. for the following purposes:

1.	 To receive the Audited Financial Statements for the 
year ended December 31, 2010, and the Reports of 
the Directors and Auditors thereon.

	 To consider and (if thought fit) pass the following 
Resolution: 

	 “THAT the Audited Accounts for the year ended 
December 31, 2010 together with the Reports of the 
Directors and the Auditors thereon be and are hereby 
adopted.”

2.	  Dividend

	 To declare the interim dividends of $1.44 paid 
during the year, as final dividend for the year ended 
December 31, 2010.

	 To consider and (if thought fit) pass the following 
Resolution: 

	 “THAT the interim dividends of 35 cents  and special 
dividend of 10 cents paid March 31, 2010, 35 cents 
paid June 25, 2010, 32 cents paid September 24, 2010, 
32 cents paid December 17, 2010, making a total of 
$1.44, be declared as final dividend for the year ended 
December 31, 2010.”

3.	 To elect Directors

	 (i)	 The Directors retiring by rotation pursuant to 
Article 89 of the Articles of Incorporation are 
Messrs. Maurice W. Facey and Donovan H. 
Perkins, who being eligible offer themselves for 
re-election.

	 To consider and (if thought fit) pass the following 
Resolutions: -

	 (a)	 “THAT the retiring Director Mr. Maurice 
W. Facey be re-elected a Director of the 
Company.”

	 (b)	 “THAT the retiring Director Mr. 
Donovan H. Perkins be re-elected a  
Director of the Company.”

	 (ii)	 Pursuant to Article 95 of the Articles of 
Incorporation Mrs. Kathleen A. J. Moss was 
appointed to the Board of Directors since the last 
Annual General Meeting, and will retire at this 
Annual General Meeting. Being eligible she offers 
herself for election.

	 To consider and (if thought fit) pass the following 
Resolution: -

	 (c)	 “THAT the retiring Director Mrs. Kathleen 
A. J. Moss be elected a Director of the 
Company.”

4. 	 To confirm the remuneration of the Non-Executive 
Directors.

	 To consider and (if thought fit) pass the following 
Resolution: -

	 “THAT the amount of $5,873,000 shown in the 
Accounts of the company for the year ended 
December 31, 2010 for Non-Executive Directors’ fees 
be and is hereby approved.”

5.	 To fix the remuneration of the Auditors or to 
determine the manner in which such remuneration 
is to be fixed.

	 To consider and (if thought fit) pass the following 
Resolution: -

	 “THAT the remuneration of the Auditors, 
PricewaterhouseCoopers, who have signified their 
willingness to continue in office, be fixed by the 
Directors.”

6.	 To increase the Authorised Share Capital of the 
Company.

	 To consider and (if thought fit) pass the following 
Resolution:

	 “THAT the authorised share capital of the Company 
be increased from 200,000,000 to 250,000,000 by the 
creation of 50,000,000 ordinary shares.”

7.	 To consider any other business of an Annual 
General Meeting.

By order of the Board

Gene M. Douglas       
Secretary
Kingston, Jamaica
18 March 2011
A member entitled to attend and vote at the above-
mentioned meeting is entitled to appoint one or more 
proxies to attend and on a poll to vote instead of him.  Such 
proxy must be lodged at the Company’s Registered Office not 
less than forty-eight hours before the meeting.  A proxy need 
not be a member.  A suitable form of proxy is enclosed.
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Report of the Directors
The Directors herewith submit their Report and the Audited 
Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2010.

$’000

The Group profit before taxation was 1,823,666

Taxation amounted to   (176,344)

Making Group Profit after Taxation 1,647,322

The share of non-controlling interest in the results of subsidiaries was (402,824)

Making the Profit attributable to owners of the parent 1,244,498

To be added to retained earnings brought forward from last year 4,525,910

Making a total of 5,770,408

Dividends paid (246,677)

Adjustments to retained earnings in respect of transfer to reserves (249,282)

Leaving retained earnings to be carried forward to the next year of 5,274,449

DIVIDENDS
The Directors have recommended that the interim dividends paid to stockholders on March 31, 2010,  
June 25, 2010, September 24, 2010 and December 17, 2010 be declared as final dividend for the year ended  
31 December 2010.

DIRECTORS
The Directors retiring by rotation pursuant to Article 89 of the Articles of Association are Messrs. Maurice W. 
Facey and Donovan H. Perkins, who being eligible offer themselves for re-election.

Pursuant to Article 95 of the Articles of Incorporation, Mrs. Kathleen A. J. Moss who was appointed since the 
last Board Meeting will retire at this Annual General Meeting and being eligible offers herself for election.

During the year, Mr. Roy Collister a Director of the Board since 2000, died.  He was the chairman of the Audit 
and Human Resources and Compensation Committee and a member of the Investment Committee.

AUDITORS
PricewaterhouseCoopers have expressed their willingness to continue in office in accordance with Sections 153 
and 154 of the Companies Act.

On behalf of the Board

Gene M. Douglas
Secretary
Kingston, Jamaica
18 March, 2011
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Senior Management
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10 YEAR STATISTICAL REVIEWFinancial Highlights

Restated Restated Restated Restated Restated
2010 2009 2008 2007 2006 2005 2004 2003 2002 2001

   SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA ($’000)

Total assets  15,150,894  12,923,242 11,118,756  10,592,615 10,528,927 9,363,841 9,176,238 24,182,525 19,538,690 8,775,933

Investments & other
    earning assets  14,444,334  12,466,393 10,546,567  9,961,823 9,811,108 8,839,199 7,887,336 20,886,917 16,268,213 6,899,527

Stockholders’ equity 
   (net worth)  10,616,871  8,933,605 7,430,746  7,095,698 6,991,015 6,102,785 4,187,953 2,989,858 2,336,559 2,109,996

Profit before tax  1,823,666  2,115,020 1,699,803  1,500,745 1,249,431 2,941,325 1,013,138 965,331 608,394 453,813

Net profit attributable to
   equity holders  1,244,498  1,395,677 1,142,247  991,109 822,050 2,043,572 1,196,955 652,179 355,022 264,948

Dividends paid, gross  249,891  236,008 173,536 806,938 164,865 168,528 129,235 92,083 62,733 50,115

Retained earnings  5,274,449  4,525,910 3,586,705  2,862,865 4,195,120 3,695,940 3,182,081 2,103,036 1,494,583 1,094,832

  FINANCIAL RATIOS

Net worth per stock unit $61.98 $52.15 $43.38 $41.42 $40.81 $35.63 $24.23 $17.37 $13.61 $12.66 

Earnings per stock unit
   (basic) $7.27 $8.15 $6.67 $5.79 $4.80 $11.93 $7.01 $3.79 $2.07 $1.59 

Price earnings ratio 6.5 4.3 3.7 8.6 11.8 4.6 7.7 4.9 6.8 6.9

Dividends paid per  
   stock unit $1.440 $1.360 $1.000 $4.711 $0.950 $0.973 $0.747 $0.535 $0.365 $0.300

Dividend payout ratio (%) 20.1% 16.7% 15.2% 81.4% 20.1% 8.2% 10.8% 14.1% 17.7% 18.9%

Weighted average 
   number of stock units  171,299  171,299 171,299 171,299 171,299 171,289 170,796 172,119 171,702 166,600

Return on equity 
   pre-tax (%) 18.7% 25.8% 23.4% 21.3% 19.1% 57.2% 28.2% 36.2% 27.4% 24.1%

Return on  
   equity (%) 12.7% 17.1% 15.7% 14.1% 12.6% 39.7% 33.4% 24.5% 15.9% 14.0%

Change in stockholders’ 
   equity (%) 18.8% 20.2% 4.7% 1.5% 14.6% 45.7% 40.1% 28.0% 10.7% 27.9%

  OTHER DATA

Stock price at year end ($) $47.00 $34.70 $24.98 $49.50 $56.50 $55.00 $53.00 $18.71 $14.27 $11.00 

Price change from last 
   year (%) 35.4% 38.9% -49.5% -12.4% 2.7% 3.8% 183.3% 31.7% 29.2% 49.7%

JSE market index at year end  85,221  83,322 80,152 107,968 100,678 102,445 104,001 60,304 41,044 32,595

Change in JSE Index (%) 2.3% 4.0% -25.8% 7.2% -1.7% -1.5% 72.5% 46.9% 25.9% 9.5%

Exchange rate J$:US$ $85.34 $89.06 $79.96 $70.18 $66.92 $64.10 $61.73 $60.24 $49.26 $47.62

Annual Inflation rate (%) 11.7% 10.2% 16.8% 16.8% 5.8% 15.9% 11.6% 14.1% 5.0% 7.6%
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Statement from the 
Chairman & the President
On behalf of the Directors, we are pleased to present the Annual 
Report of Pan-Jamaican Investment Trust Limited (Pan-Jam) and 
its subsidiaries for the year ended 31 December 2010.  
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Net profit attributable to equity 
holders was $1,244 million for 2010, 
compared to $1,396 million in the 
previous year, an 11% reduction, 
while basic earnings per stock unit 
were $7.27 compared to the 2009 
level of $8.15. 

Our share of results of associated 
companies, represented by First 
Jamaica’s 24.8% investment in Sagicor 
Life Jamaica Limited (SLJ), our 20.8% 
holding in Hardware & Lumber 
Limited (H&L), and our 25% in the 

new Walkerswood group, improved 
by $47 million, to $1,172 million 
(2009: $1,125 million).

Our balance sheet remains very 
strong, with total assets at 31 
December 2010 amounting to $15.2 
billion, up 17.2% on the $12.9 billion 
at 31 December 2009.    Stockholders’ 
equity increased by 18.8% to $10.6 
billion (2009: $8.9 billion), which 
equates to a book value per stock unit 
of $61.98 as at 31 December 2010 
(2009: $52.15).

First Jamaica 
Investments Limited
Our investment in First Jamaica 
Investments Limited (FJI) performed 
creditably in a year of considerable 
challenges, with profit attributable to 
stockholders for the year ended 31 
December 2010 being $1,642 million, 
a 14% decline from the $1,918 
million posted for 2009. Earnings per 
stock unit were $5.43 compared to 
$6.35 for 2009.  
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FJI’s contribution to profits is 
derived from three major business 
sources: property, share of results 
of its associated company (SLJ) and 
investments.

Property Segment
Our properties enjoyed overall 
occupancy levels averaging 98% for 
the year.  Property income increased 
$75 million, 6%, to $1,249 million, 
which more than offset a 10% 
increase in property operating costs.  
Expense pressures were attributable 
to increases in energy costs as 
world oil prices rebounded from 
2009 levels, as well as inflationary 
increases in other expense categories. 
These factors impacted total group 
operating expenses, which grew by 
$17 million, up 2%. Our property 
segment contribution to group 
operating profit of $586 million was 
5% below last year’s level of $618 
million. This includes revaluation 
gains of $300 million for the year, flat 
when compared to the 2009 level. 
Whilst this gain in property value 
reflects, in part, the higher net rentals 
achieved during the year, carrying 
values continue to be significantly 
below replacement and development 
costs. 

Associated Company
We continue to be pleased with our 
investment in Insurance and Banking, 
through First Jamaica’s 24.8% 
shareholding in Sagicor Life Jamaica 
Limited (SLJ). During a very difficult 
2010, SLJ once again performed 
above our expectations, growing 
profits for the tenth consecutive year. 

Hon. Maurice W. Facey, OJ., JP.
Chairman

Stephen B. Facey
President & CEO

Our properties enjoyed 
overall occupancy levels 
averaging 98%. Property 
income increased 6%, 
which more than offset a 
10% increase in property 
operating costs.
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With falling interest rates, SLJ made 
a strategic decision to invest its funds 
in longer term securities to protect 
itself and its policyholders, the result 
being significant realized capital gains 
from the trading of such securities. In 
addition, SLJ’s 86% ownership of Pan 
Caribbean Financial Services Limited 
(PCFS), generated after tax profits of 
$1.5 billion, an increase of 3% above 
prior year despite the lower interest 
rate environment and a revaluing 
Jamaican dollar.

SLJ’s net profit attributable to 
shareholders amounted to $4.7 
billion, an increase of 6% over the 
previous year, representing a 21% 
return on average equity, while 
basic earnings per stock unit were 
$1.24, up from $1.17 for the same 
period in 2009. These good results 
were achieved through prudent 
underwriting performance and 

careful expense management, which 
more than offset declines in operating 
revenues and investment income.  

SLJ’s Shareholders’ equity as at 31 
December 2010 was $25.2 billion, 
compared to $19.9 billion as at 31 
December 2009. This substantial 
increase was due to the growth in 
earnings and the improved value 
of its portfolio of available for sale 
securities. 

Investment Segment  
Investment income decreased $296 
million, 67%, while our investment 
management segment posted 
operating profit of $97 million for 
the year, a decrease of $263 million 
compared to the previous year’s 
profit of $360 million. In 2009, we 
recorded net foreign exchange gains 
of $154 million, while the recent 
strength of the Jamaican dollar 
resulted in $62 million of recorded 
net foreign exchange losses for 2010, 
a swing of $216 million. Additionally, 
interest income of $176 million was 
$49 million below the 2009 level, 
as a result of reduced interest rates 
both locally and overseas.  Finally, 
we recorded impairment losses of 
$24 million compared to $9 million 
in 2009. Net unrealized gains in 
our portfolio of available for sale 
securities, which are accounted for 
through comprehensive income and 
stockholders’ equity, amounted to 
$112 million for 2010 compared to 
$64 million in the previous year. 

Hardware & Lumber 
Limited
Hardware & Lumber (H&L)’s 2010 
results showed improvement, with 
reported profits of $19 million 
compared to a loss of $226 million 
in 2009.  The results, while better, 
continue to be adversely affected 
by the downturn in the economy, 
particularly the soft demand in the 
construction and home improvement 
sectors. Revenues declined versus 
the same period a year earlier. 
However, we were pleased with the 
effort from management to reduce 
the company’s cost base, improve 
margins, and enhance the retail 
customer experience through store 
remodeling and customer service 
training. We continue to engage with 
the company’s Board of Directors 
and with management in reviewing 
strategies to boost performance. 

Walkerswood Group
We are pleased with our 25% 
investment in New Castle Company 
Limited, owners of the Walkerswood, 
Busha Browne and Jamaica Joe 
brands. Our share of profits from this 
venture was $16 million in 2010.  The 
group continues to build new and 
existing markets while attempting 
to satisfy customer demand. We are 
delighted to see the Walkerswood 
and Busha Browne product lines 
consistently in the retail trade both 
locally and abroad. 

SLJ’s Shareholders’ equity 
as at 31 December 2010, 
was $25.2 billion, compared 
to $19.9 billion as at 31 
December 2009. This 
substantial increase was due 
to the growth in earnings 
and the improved value of 
its portfolio of available for 
sale securities. 

Statement from the 
Chairman & the President (Cont’d)
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Dividends
Your directors have authorized the 
payment of regular dividends totaling 
$1.34 per stock unit during 2010, 
plus a special dividend of $0.10, 
giving a total dividend of $1.44. This 
represents a payout of approximately 
19.8% of 2010 net profit.

Outlook   
Through 2010 the Jamaican economy 
contracted even as the global 
downturn softened.  However, 
positives to take from 2010 were the 
most favourable leading economic 
and social  indicators in over 25 
years, led by lower interest rates, 
better fiscal management, and a 
lower crime rate. We look forward 
to our country growing out of its 
longstanding difficulties. 

We will continue to manage our 
risks prudently, and keep operating 
expenses in line with revenues. We 
continue to believe that opportunities 
will be prevalent in 2011 and beyond 
both in Jamaica and overseas. We will 
focus on taking advantage of these 
opportunities as appropriate when 
they present themselves. 

We thank our customers and 
acknowledge the dedication and 
commitment of our staff and 
directors who have contributed 
significantly to our success in 2010.

We continue to believe 
that opportunities will 
be prevalent in 2011 and 
beyond both in Jamaica 
and overseas. We will 
focus on taking advantage 
of these opportunities as 
appropriate when they 
present themselves. 
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Maurice W. Facey	 Stephen B. Facey
Chairman	 Chief Executive Officer

Statement from the 
Chairman & the President (Cont’d)
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Management 
Discussion and 
Analysis
Pan-Jamaican Investment Trust Limited, through its 
subsidiaries and associated companies, is involved in a 
wide array of activities including property rental and 
management, investments, life and health insurance and 
pension management, captive insurance, and consumer 
product manufacturing and distribution.  

The objective of the Management Discussion and Analysis 
report is to provide stockholders with information to assist 
with evaluating the performance and operations of the 
company for the year 2010.  It is the responsibility of the 
management of Pan-Jamaican Investment Trust to ensure 
the integrity of the information outlined in this report.

The information included in this report conforms to and 
should be used in conjunction with the audited financial 
statements.

Economic Overview 
The year 2010 saw the successful implementation of the 
Jamaica Debt Exchange programme (JDX) as well as the 
signing of a standby agreement between the Government and 
International Monetary Fund (IMF). Interest rates declined as 
a result of the JDX and continued to trend downwards during 
the year, with an average 90 days Treasury Bill rate of 8.95% 
(2009 - 18.6%). The cost of borrowing remained high during 
the year as lending institutions were slow in responding to the 
call for reduced rates. The government had notable success in 
stabilizing the exchange rate, with the Jamaican Dollar (J$) 
appreciating by 4% against the US Dollar (US$), a turnaround 
from the 11% depreciation for 2009. 
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Annual inflation rate as measured by the Consumer 
Price Index was 11.7% (2009 – 10.2%), an increase 
of 14.7% over prior year impacting the real income 
of consumers. The annual average unemployment 
rate of 12.4% was 6% above that of 2009 - 11.7%. 
These factors mainly impact our retail property 
holdings as those tenants rely on the ability of the 
consumers to purchase their goods and services.  
Despite this we maintained  an average of 98% 
occupancy level of our retail and commercial 
properties for 2010.   
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Financial Overview
The year 2010 was challenging yet successful for the group. 
Investment income decreased by $296 million, 67%, as 
a result of both lower yields on investment securities 
caused principally by the JDX, in which high yielding 
interest rate (average 18%) Government of Jamaica 
(GOJ) securities were exchanged for lower interest rate 
(average 12%) securities, and an appreciation of the J$ 
by 4% against the US$, which hurt reported earnings as 
the group has net foreign currency denominated assets of 
$0.9 billion (2009 - $1.8 billion) resulting in net foreign 
exchange losses of  $61.9 million ($2009 – net gains of 
$153.7 million). Property income rose $75 million, which 
more than offset a 10% increase in direct property costs 
impacted principally by higher energy costs resulting 

from a rebound in world oil prices.  Operating expenses 
net of direct cost of property management increased by 
$33 million, or 11%, including a $12 million increase 
in pension expense resulting from a lower interest rate 
outlook. Share of results of associated companies increased 
marginally by 4% helped by better results from three 
associated companies in the group.  Net profit attributable 
to owners of the parent declined by 11% compared to 
2009, with earnings per stock unit falling to  $7.27 (2009 
- $8.15), a return on average equity of 13% (2009 – 17%).  
Despite this, dividends per stock unit were 6% greater than 
2009 with a payout ratio of 20%, an increase of 19% over 
prior year.   

Key Performance Indices
2010 2009 Variance  %

Net profit attributable to owners of the parent ($million) 1,244 1,396 (11)

Share of results of associated companies ($million) 1,172 1,125 4

Dividends received from associated companies ($ million) 397 524 (24)

Earnings per stock unit (EPS) ($) 7.27 8.15 (11)

Return on average equity (ROE) (%) 12.7 17.0 (25)

Dividends per stock unit  ($) 1.44 1.36 6

Book value per stock unit ($) 61.98 52.15 19

Dividend payout ratio (%) 19.8 16.7 19

Efficiency ratio (operating expenses to revenue) (%) 52.2 40.6 (29)

Gearing ratio (%) 15.1 2.7 (459)

Average return on property value (%) 21.6 22.6 (4)

Average yield on investments (%) 4.9 19.6 (75)
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Investment Income
Investment income for 2010 was at its lowest since 2006, a 
reduction of 67% compared to 2009 due to:
	 •	Reduction in interest rates and yields over prior year, 

primarily as a result of the JDX. 
	 •	Appreciation of the J$ to the US$ compared to 	

depreciation in 2009.
	 •	Impairment charges against investment securities of $24 

million (2009 - $9 million).

Interest earned was $175 million, 22% below the $224 million 
of 2009 with an average yield of 7.8% (2009 – 11.1%). With a 
combined 63% of investment assets in GOJ and repurchase 
agreements, interest income was significantly affected by the 
decline in interest rates during the year.  

The 4% appreciation of the JAD to the USD resulted in 
net foreign exchange losses of $62 million compared to 
11% deprecation and net gains of $154 million for 2009, a 
$216 million reduction in investment income.  Net assets 
denominated in foreign currency, principally the US$, at the end 
of 2010 were $0.9 billion (2009 - $1.8 billion)

Our equity portfolio continued to produce cash returns with 
dividend income of $36 million, 13% more than the 2009 
amount of $32 million. 

Income
Total income declined by 14% driven mainly by a reduction in 
investment and other income.  Property income continued to grow 
year-on-year with a 6% increase in 2010 over 2009.  Commission 
earned was marginally down by 1% compared to  2009 as the 
exchange rate for the US$, the currency in which our reinsurance 
commissions are earned, was less favourable than 2009.  

Property Income
Property income, which consists of rental income and fair value 
gains on property valuation, increased by 6% over 2009.  An 
increase in rental income of 9%  was partly offset by a reduction 
in revaluation gains of 1.5% to $300 million. The reduction is 
attributable to the slow growth in the level of projected future 
rental income as well as likely inflationary pressures on our cost 
base. Average return on property value  (property income net of 
direct expenses as a percentage of average property values) was 
relatively flat - 22% (2009 – 23%). Average occupancy level of both 
retail and commercial properties for the year was 98% (2009 – 
98.7%) a marginal reduction compared to 2009.  
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Operating Expenses
Operating expenses comprising direct property expenses 
and administrative expenses increased by 11% to $780 
million (2009 - $705 million).  The efficiency ratio 
deteriorated by 28% to 52% (2009 – 41%) due to increased 
expenses and reduced total income.

Direct property expenses increased by 10% to $443 million 
(2009 - $401 million) driven by regular inflationary 
adjustments as well as increased electricity costs due to 
rising oil prices on the world market.  Average electricity 
rate per kilowatt hour was $22.11 (2009 - $18.04) 
representing a 22.6% increase over 2009.  Electricity 
consumption for 2010 was 3.3% below 2009 levels as 
tenants were encouraged to conserve on electricity in order 
to better manage this expense.

Administrative expenses for 2010 increased by 11% 
with staff costs increasing by 25%. General inflationary 
adjustments as well as increased professional fees related to 

active investment opportunities contributed to the increase 
in administrative expenses, and staff costs were adversely 
affected by a $12 million increase in pension expense 
resulting from the lower interest rate outlook.  Overhead 
levels are currently under review in an effort to contain 
increases below inflation. 
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Quarterly Results
Net profit attributable to owners of the parent for the 4th 
quarter was the highest for the year with earnings per stock 
unit of $2.10 for the quarter.  Quarterly profits for 2010 were 
below prior year quarter profits due to lower interest rates 
resulting from the JDX, foreign exchange losses versus gains 
in 2009, and higher operating expenses.  Profits attributable 
to owners of the parent for the 3rd and 4th quarters were 

boosted by an increased shareholding in the FJI group of 
approximately 10%.  Dividends paid per quarter to equity 
holders in 2010 were an improvement over amounts paid in 
2009 (except for the 4th quarter of 2009 which included a 
special divided of $0.16 per stock unit) despite lower profits.  
The stock price moved to $47.00 at 31 December 2010 from 
$34.70 at 31 December 2009, a 35% increase. 

Summary of Quarterly Results
2010 2009

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

Operating income ($m) 412 305 372 404 479 321 354 582
Operating expenses ($m) 184 200 188 208 156 170 186 193
Share of results in associated  companies 255 264 306 347 303 324 295 203
Net profit attributable to owners of the parent ($m)    312 230 342 360 408 309 296 383
Earnings per stock unit ($) 1.83 1.34 2.00 2.10 2.38 1.80 1.73 2.24

Dividends paid ($m) 78.1 60.7 55.5 55.5 43.3 52.1 52.1 88.5
Return on equity, annualised (%) 13.5 9.6 13.8 13.9 21.6 15.6 14.0 17.4
Total assets ($m) 14,038 14,184 14,713 15,151 11,438 12,042 12,556 12,923
Stockholders’ equity ($m) 9,559 9,697 10,152 10,617 7,676 8,199 8,710 8,934

Closing stock bid price ($) 45.79 48.66 46.03 47.00 25.00 34.96 31.11 34.70
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Investment Assets
The group continues to hold the majority of its 
investment assets in repurchase agreements and deposits, 
36% for 2010 (2009 – 33%) to maintain liquidity in an 
environment of uncertainty and in order to capitalise on 
potential opportunities
 
In 2010 assets denominated in foreign currency 
(principally US$) were 75% of the portfolio compared to 
72% in 2009.  The group maintains its foreign currency 
denominated assets to ensure that loan liabilities 
denominated in foreign currency are adequately covered 
and to diversify the group’s asset base.

Investment in  
Associated Companies
Share of results of associated companies increased 
marginally by 4% over 2009 with all major associated 
companies recording net profit for 2010. Sagicor Life 
Jamaica Limited (SLJ), although significantly affected 
by the JDX, produced net profit attributable to equity 
holders of $4.67 billion, 6% more than prior year, with 
our share of net profit being $1.1 billion (2009 - $1.2 

billion).  Dividends received of $397 million (2009 - 
$524 million) were 24% below prior year, as SLJ sought 
to maintain a healthy liquid asset base to ensure its 
minimum capital requirements were met at all times and 
to retain cash both for reinvestment and as a hedge in a 
period of uncertainty.  During the year we acquired an 
additional 12.8 million stock units in SLJ, increasing the 
shareholding to 24.78% (2009 – 24.46%).  New Castle 
Company Limited, owners of Walkerswood, Busha 
Browne and Jamaica Joe, continues to develop new and 
existing markets and the contribution to the group’s net 
profit of $16 million was 9% more than 2009 levels of 
$15 million.  Despite the slow pace of recovery in the 
construction and home improvement sector, Hardware 
and Lumber (H&L)’s results improved significantly, 
recording net profit of $19 million (2009 – net loss $250 
million).

Investment in Associated Companies
2010 2009

$ million $’000 $’000
Investment in associated companies 7,423 6,004

Share of net profit 1,172 1,125

Dividends received 397 524
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Loan Liabilities 
During the year the group drew down US$5 million out 
of its US$17.50 million loan facility with the International 
Finance Corporation (IFC).  The loan is being used to 
assist in financing the generator replacement project at 
the Pan Caribbean Building complex in New Kingston, 
among other projects. The group also borrowed US$12.5 
million during the year from a local financial institution 
to assist with the purchase of stock units in a subsidiary.  
Gearing ratio (loan and lease financing as a percentage of 
stockholders equity) increased to 15.1% from 2.7% as a 
result of these borrowings.

Stockholders’ Equity
Stockholders’ equity continued to increase year-on-year to 
$10.6 billion in 2010, 19% more than 2009. The increase 
was enhanced by gains on available for sale investment 
securities of $112 million (2009 – $61 million) and 
positive reserves movement of $556 million (2009 – $372 
million) relating to SLJ.  Book value per stock unit was 
$61.98 at the end of 2010 (2009 - $52.15). 

Capital Management  
and Resources
The Board of Directors has ultimate responsibility for 
capital management.  The Board of Directors monitors 
the group’s return on capital and approves the level of 
dividends to ordinary stockholders.  During the year a 
total of $247 million (2009-$233 million) was paid out in 
dividends. 
 
The group has a balance of US$12.5 million loan financing 
available from the International Finance Corporation 
(IFC) with a tenor of 10 years and a 2 year moratorium on 
principal. Management believes that additional financing 
could be acquired at commercial or better rates should the 
need arise for the acquisition of future investments.  

Risk Management
The Investment and Risk Management Committee, a sub-
committee of the Board of Directors, has the responsibility 
for managing and monitoring the risk associated with 
financial assets and liabilities.  

The Investment and Risk Management Committee:

•	 Monitors the adequacy and effectiveness of the Group’s 
system of risk management.

•	 Ensures that the risk associated with the asset mix is 
effectively balanced.

•	 Recommends investment opportunities for approval to 
the Board of Directors.

The Investment and Risk Management Committee 
consists of Non-Executive and Executive Directors of 
the group duly appointed by the Board.  The Board also 
appoints the Chairman and Secretary of the Investment 
and Risk Management Committee.

The Committee met 11 times during the year.  The 
Committee Chairman is The Hon. Maurice W. Facey.

Management Discussion and Analysis (Cont’d)
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Operational Risk
Operational risk is the risk of loss resulting from 
inadequate or failed internal processes, people and 
system or from external events.  The group mitigates 
operational risk through the segregation of duties, 
implementation and monitoring of internal controls 
procedures as well as providing staff with the required 
training to adequately perform their duties.  The group 
also ensures that assets are adequately insured.

Market Risk
The group is exposed to market risk on both its 
financial assets and financial liabilities.  Market risk 
is the risk that fair value or cash flows of the group’s 
financial instruments will fluctuate due to changes 
in interest rates, market prices and foreign exchange 
rates.  The investment department manages market 
risk by monitoring closely the local and international 
environments for risks which might result in movement 
of financial assets and liabilities.  

•	 Interest risk
	 Interest rate risk is the risk of loss due to the 

volatility of interest rate on financial instruments. 
Through the guidance of the Investment and Risk 
Management Committee, the group manages its 
interest rate risk by maintaining an appropriate mix 
of fixed and variable rate instruments.  

•	 Currency risk
	 Currency risk is the risk that the value of a 

financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes 
in exchange rates.  The group manages its currency 
risk by ensuring that financial assets denominated 
in foreign currencies adequately match financial 
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies and 
that the net exposure is kept to an acceptable level.

•	 Price risk
	 Price risk is the risk of loss due to changes in 

trading prices, whether caused by factors specific 
to individual instruments or its issuer or factors 
affecting all instruments in the market. The 

investment department closely monitors prices of 
financial instruments and where appropriate will 
trade under-performing instruments to reduce the 
impact of any adverse price fluctuations. 

Liquidity Risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the group is unable to meet 
its financial obligations when they fall due.  Through the 
investment department, the group manages and maintains 
an adequate level of cash and marketable securities that 
can be liquidated to meet obligations as they fall due and 
also to protect against any unforeseen interruption to cash 
flow.

Audit Committee
The Audit Committee, a sub-committee of the Board of 
Directors, has responsibility for overseeing the financial 
reporting process to ensure balance, transparency and 
integrity of the published financial information.  The 
committee also monitors the effectiveness of all internal 
financial control systems in accordance with international 
standards, liaising with the external auditors. 

The Board has established its Audit Committee 
with clearly defined terms of reference, procedures, 
responsibilities and powers as follows:

•	 Monitor the adequacy and effectiveness of the 
group’s system of control, the business risk 
assurance function and the external auditors.

•	 Review the group’s annual and interim 
financial statements and related policies and 
assumptions and any accompanying reports 
or related policies and statements.

•	 Develop and implement policy on the 
engagement of the external auditors to supply 
non-audit services.

Management Discussion and Analysis (Cont’d)
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The Audit Committee consists of Non-executive 
Directors of the Group duly appointed by the Board.  
The Board also appoints the Chairman and Secretary 
of the Audit Committee.  The Board Chairman cannot 
be a member of the Committee.  

The committee is chaired by Mrs. Kathleen A. J. Moss 
and met 4 times during the year.

Corporate Governance
The Board of Directors during the year appointed 
a Governance Committee as a sub-committee to 
the board.  The Governance Committee oversees all 
aspects of governance for the group, assisting the 
Board of Directors in establishing and monitoring the 
principles of good governance aimed at preserving 
shareholder value.

Management Discussion and Analysis (Cont’d)

BOARD SUB-COMMITTEES

Committee Members

Investment 
and Risk 

Management Audit
Human Resources 
and Compensation

Governance 
Committee

Maurice W. Facey •

Stephen B. Facey • • •

Paul A. B. Facey •

Donovan H. Perkins • •

W.G. Bryan Ewen • • • •

T. Matthew W. Pragnell • • •

Ian Parsard * •

Kathleen A. J. Moss • •

Paul R. Hanworth * •

Richard O. Byles •

Non-Directors*
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Board of Directors
Hon. Maurice W. Facey, OJ., JP.,

Hon. Maurice Facey 
has been Chairman 
of Pan-Jamaican 
Investment Trust 
Limited since 1966. 
A prominent and 
respected pioneer 
in real estate 
development, it was 
his entrepreneurial 
vision that led to the 
construction of the 
island’s modern-day 

landmark structures. Today the Pan-Jamaican group 
continues to thrive under Mr. Facey’s inspirational 
leadership. He has served on several boards over the years, 
and currently sits as chairman of Kingston Restoration 
Company and First Jamaica Investments Ltd. 

Stephen B. Facey, M. Arch.

President and CEO 
of Pan-Jamaican 
Investment Trust 
Limited since 2004, 
Mr. Stephen Facey 
brings over 25 
years of business 
experience to the 
board. An architect 
by training with 
extensive experience 
in real estate, he 
was appointed CEO 

of Jamaica Property Company Ltd. in 1990, today one 
of Jamaica’s leading property management companies. 
Mr. Facey also serves on the Boards of First Jamaica 
Investments Ltd., Sagicor Life Jamaica Ltd., Hardware & 
Lumber Ltd., Kingston Restoration Company, The New 
Kingston Civic Association and Kingston City Centre 
Improvement Company. 

W.G. Bryan Ewen, FCA

Mr. Bryan Ewen is a 
past Vice President 
of Finance for Pan-
Jamaican Investment 
Trust Limited and 
past CEO of First 
Jamaica Investments 
Limited. A chartered 
accountant by 
training, Pan-
Jamaican has 
benefited over 
the decades from 

his broad knowledge and experience in financial 
management, accounting and banking. Having served 
on several other boards, today he sits on the Boards of 
First Jamaica Investments Ltd., and Jamaica Property 
Company Ltd.  

Richard O. Byles,  BSc., MSc.

Mr. Richard Byles, 
Pan-Jamaican’s 
CEO until 2004 has 
been credited with 
the transformation 
of the Pan-Jam 
Group during 
a challenging 
economic period 
resulting in Pan-
Jam becoming 
one of Jamaica’s 
most successful 

companies. Now President & CEO of Sagicor Life 
Jamaica Ltd, Mr. Byles continues to support the Board 
and its subsidiaries with his expertise in the trading, 
banking and insurance industries. He is the Chairman 
of Red Stripe and a former Vice President of the Private 
Sector Organization of Jamaica.
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Paul A. B. Facey, MBA

Mr. Paul Facey has 
been Vice President, 
Investments of Pan-
Jamaican Investment 
Trust, and First 
Jamaica Investments 
Ltd. since 2004.  He 
brings to the Pan-
Jamaican Board his 
substantial experience 
in the trading, 
manufacturing and 
financial operations 

of the Pan-Jamaican Group of Companies over the last 
seventeen years. Mr. Facey sits on the Boards of First 
Jamaica Investments Ltd., and Sagicor Life Jamaica Ltd. 
where he is a member of the Investment  and Audit 
Committees.  

T. Matthew Pragnell, BA

Mr. Pragnell joined 
the board of Pan-
Jamaican Investment 
Trust Limited in 
2009. He is the 
Chief Executive 
Officer of the CGM 
Gallagher Group, 
the largest insurance 
broker and risk 
management group in 
the English-speaking 
Caribbean with 

operations in Jamaica, Barbados, St. Lucia, St. Vincent 
and Grenada.  Mr. Pragnell originally trained in insurance 
as a Lloyd’s Broker in the city of London. He is one of 
the founding directors of Panacea Insurance Company, 
the group’s captive insurance vehicle domiciled in St. 
Lucia. He is a past president of the Jamaica Insurance 
Brokers Association and has also non-executive director 
experience in banking.  

Kathleen A. J. Moss,  BSc.(Mgmt.), MBA, CBV

Mrs. Moss is a 
Management Consultant 
and Chartered 
Business Valuator with 
Sierra Associates, an 
independent advisory 
and business valuation 
firm that she established 
in 1993.  She was 
appointed to the board 
August 2010, and chairs 
the audit committee.  
Mrs. Moss serves on 

the Boards of Jamaica Producers Group, where she chairs 
the audit committee, and is a member of the Executive 
and Compensation Committee, NEM Insurance Company 
(Jamaica) Limited where she is Deputy Chairman, and 
Assurance Brokers Jamaica Ltd.  Mrs. Moss is a member of 
the Investment Committee and the Internal Audit Committee 
of Jamaica National Building Society.  She is a trustee of the 
Violence Prevention Alliance, a member of the Canadian 
Institute of Chartered Business Valuators and a graduate of 
the University of the West Indies and McGill University. 

Donovan H. Perkins, MBA

Mr. Donovan Perkins 
is the CEO of Pan 
Caribbean Financial 
Services Limited.  
Under his leadership 
the company has 
grown through a 
series of mergers and 
acquisitions into a 
diversified Financial 
Services Group.  In 
addition to serving 
on the Boards within 

the Pan Caribbean Group,  Mr. Perkins is a Director of 
First Jamaica Investments Limited, Jamaica Producers 
Group Limited, National Insurance Fund, The Jamaica 
Stock Exchange and the National Water Commission.  
He previously served as Vice President of the Jamaica 
Bankers Association and the Private Sector Organisation 
of Jamaica.
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Tribute to the Hon. Roy Collister, OJ.
July 5, 1935-April 11, 2010

Pan-Jamaican Investment Trust 
Limited, its subsidiaries and 
associated companies record 

with regret the death on April 11, 
2010 of  the Hon. Roy Collister, OJ., 
highly respected member of the 
boards of Pan-Jamaican Investment 
Trust Limited and First Jamaica 
Investments Limited.

Mr. Collister’s association with 
Pan-Jamaican Investment Trust 
spanned over twenty-five years. He 
was a founding director of, and from 
1985 to 1992, Deputy Chairman 
of Pan-Caribbean Merchant Bank 
Limited (PCMB), which was 
established in 1983 by a Pan-Jamaican 
led consortium of companies. 
This private sector consortium, 
which sought through PCMB to 
provide development capital and 
infrastructural services for advancing 
the local economy, included T. Geddes 
Grant Limited, (TGGL) which Mr. 
Collister served for thirty-three years.  
He ended his illustrious career with 
TGGL as Group Chairman and Chief 
Executive of the Caribbean-wide 
entity.  

 Mr. Collister also served the Pan-
Jamaican Group of Companies from 

1999 as a Director of First Jamaica 
Investments Limited (then First Life 
Insurance Company Limited) and as a 
member of the Board of Pan-Jamaican 
Investment Trust Limited from 2000 
until his death.  

Born in the Isle of Man, United 
Kingdom in 1935, Roy Collister held 
a degree in Commerce from the 
University of Manchester, England.  
He was a fellow of the Institute of 
Chartered Accountants of Jamaica 
as well as the Institute of Chartered 
Accountants of England and Wales.  
He emigrated to Jamaica in 1959, 
became a Jamaican citizen in 1965 
and quietly set about making a 
most remarkable and enduring 
contribution to the development of 
the financial services and business 
sectors in his adopted country.

In the course of his career, Mr. 
Collister was a partner in the auditing 
practice of Ernst & Young, and 
over the years held directorships 
in an extensive list of companies 
in Jamaica and the Caribbean. He 
was a Past President of the Jamaica 
Chamber of Commerce as well as 
the Private Sector Organization of 
Jamaica.  Mr. Collister was a member 
of the Council of the Jamaica Stock 
Exchange.  He further served as a 
director of the University of the West 
Indies Development Fund and was 
Chairman of the Fund’s Financial 
Committee.

Roy Collister is remembered by 
a grateful nation particularly for 
his commitment to tax reform 
in Jamaica.  He was Chairman of 
the Jamaican Government’s Tax 
Reform Committee, the work of 
which resulted in major reforms of 
Jamaica’s personal and corporate tax 
systems implemented in the 1980s 

as well as the design of the General 
Consumption Tax (GCT). He further 
served as a Director of the Trade 
Board, Jamaica National Investment 
Promotion, Jamaica Export Credit 
Insurance Corporation, the Export 
Development Fund, as a member 
of the Government’s Divestment 
Committee and as Chairman of the 
Jamaica Bauxite Institute.   

In Regional affairs, Roy Collister 
served the Caribbean Law Institute’s 
Advisory Committee and was a 
Past President of the Caribbean 
Association of Industry and 
Commerce.  He was also a Trustee of 
the Caribbean Latin American Action 
Organization seeking to ease trade 
restrictions on CARICOM exports to 
the US.

In March 2010, Roy Collister 
was conferred with the national 
honour, the Order of Jamaica by 
the Government in recognition of 
his services to Jamaica and to the 
business sector in particular.

Roy Collister was an exemplary 
member of the Jamaican business 
community who was dedicated to 
the advancement of the Jamaican 
and Caribbean economies.  He was a 
devoted husband, father, grandfather, 
an admired colleague and a trusted 
friend.

The Pan-Jamaican Group extends 
sincere condolences to Roy Collister’s 
widow, Sylvia and sons, Keith and 
Paul, his family, colleagues and 
friends on the loss of an exceptional 
individual.  We are privileged to 
have had the benefit of his expertise, 
dedication to excellence and wise 
counsel.

May his soul rest in peace.
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We at the Pan-Jamaican Group 
of Companies are committed 
to strengthening our efforts to 
carry out our Corporate Social 
Responsibility (CSR). As a group, 

we aim to make a difference in 
the communities in which we live 
and operate. We constantly strive 
to create a supportive and safe 
environment in which human capital 
is encouraged to grow and develop 
professionally even as we seek to 
exceed our clients’ expectations 
by providing the excellent service 
on which we have built our 
reputation.  Our Group takes 
pride in being an environmentally 
responsible organization, treating 
the environment with respect 
and taking steps to preserve it 
for future generations.  Further, 
we are committed to assuming a 
leadership role in promoting social 
responsibility by influencing the CSR 
practices of those with whom we do 
business. 

Our Communities
Through the Cecil Boswell Facey 
Foundation, the Pan-Jamaican 
Group has had a long record of 
support for community and youth 
development, with its primary focus 
being on education, particularly at 
the early childhood level. In 2010, we 
continued substantial support of the 
operations of the Cecil Boswell Facey 
Basic School at Boys’ Town in West 
Kingston as well as the Union Basic 
School in St. Ann.  We assisted with 
staff costs, a breakfast programme 
and the provision of school supplies.  
At the Lalyce Gray Basic School 
in Cassava Piece, St. Andrew, the 
Foundation commissioned and 
completed construction of a much 

As a group, we aim to 
make a difference in the 
communities in which 
we live and operate. We 
constantly strive to create 
a supportive and safe 
environment in which 
human capital is encouraged 
to grow and develop 
professionally 

The Chairman and  
the Children: 
Hon. Maurice W. Facey, OJ., 
Chairman of Pan-Jamaican 
Investment Trust Ltd. and 
Mrs. Facey joined students 
at the Cecil Boswell Facey 
Basic School, Boys’ Town to 
celebrate the festive season. 
The school has 98 children 
enrolled, primarily from the 
Trench Town and Denham 
Town communities.  

Corporate Social 
Responsibility
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Corporate Social Responsibility (Cont’d)

Where the Children Play:  
Cecil Boswell Facey Foundation 
Trustee, Paul Facey (left) and Danny 
Lyn, Chairman of the Lalyce Gray Basic 
School in Cassava Piece, St Andrew 
view the new play area at the school 
constructed by the Foundation.

needed playground for more than 250 
students under the age of five years.
In the review period, the Foundation 
again funded tertiary level 
scholarships at the University of 
Technology Jamaica, and the Edna 
Manley College of the Visual and 
Performing Arts. The Foundation 
contributed to the efforts of Mr. R. 
Danny Williams to raise funds for the 
construction of a new auditorium at 
Jamaica College and we once again 
lent our support to the Wortley Home 
for young girls through sponsorship 
of the annual Lloyd Facey Memorial 
Golf Tournament from which the 
home benefits.

The Cecil Boswell Facey Foundation 
continued to work with, and support 

the Kingston Restoration Company 
Limited (KRC), as we firmly believe 
that the capital city of Kingston and 
Port Royal as a renowned heritage 
site, represent important aspects 
of the rich culture and history of 
Jamaica, and, as such, should be 
redeveloped to fulfil their potential 
as outstanding places to both live and 
visit.

Our Environment
Pan-Jamaican Investment Trust’s 
strong involvement with the New 
Kingston Civic Association was 
expanded to provide shelter for 
the homeless at the ‘Open-Arms 
Centre’. We continued to support 
the work of the National Solid 

Waste Management Authority in the 
daily cleaning of the streets in New 
Kingston.  The area was enhanced by 
on-going maintenance of the median 
strip on Knutsford Boulevard, as 
well as pruning and general care for 
the trees along the New Kingston 
roadways. Our care of the New 
Kingston environment also extended 
to pest control services to reduce 
and/or eliminate rodent infestation. 
Finally, Pan-Jamaican continued its 
long-standing support of the New 
Kingston Police Post through the 
physical maintenance of the building.

Foundation Scholars:  
Awardees of Cecil Boswell Facey Foundation 
scholarships to the University of Technology, 

representatives of the University and the 
Foundation are seen L-R: L. Mark Taylor (HoS 

Caribbean School of Architecture), Mario 
O’Connor, Deborah Morgan, Hon. Maurice Facey 

(Chairman Pan-Jam), Felice Martin, Marcia 
Osborne (HR Manager Pan-Jam), John Samuels 

II, Deno Vassell, Professor Errol Morrison 
(President Utech)
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Our Clients
Our commitment is to provide a 
clean, safe and secure environment 
in which our clients can focus on 
their core businesses.  We also 
advise on recommended practices 
relating to energy use and energy 
efficiency based on our monitoring 
of electrical consumption, water 
and air quality. During 2010, a 
comprehensive program of upgrades 
to our commercial properties 
included major investment in new 
generating capacity for the New 

Kingston office complex. In addition, 
we are currently improving our fire 
suppression system, fire detection 
alarms, lighting and signage as 
we continually seek to enhance 
our tenants’ comfort, safety and 
productivity.  

Our People
As a responsible organization, we are 
committed to providing worthwhile 
and satisfying employment in a 
successful business.  Despite a 
difficult economic climate, our Group 
has not wavered in this commitment 
to our employees.  In the review 
period, we continued striving to 
adopt sound labour and employment 
practices, and maintain a safe, healthy 
and productive work environment in 
which favourable labour relations are 
fostered and the union is recognized 
as partners in the process.
A skilled and motivated workforce 
helps to drive business success, so 

we take a holistic approach to the 
needs of individuals as a part of 
our business strategy.  Professional 
development is an important vehicle 
used to achieve our objectives, where 
our people are able to access a range 
of in-house training programmes 
as well as external learning and 
development opportunities most 
of which lead to transferable and 
accredited qualifications.

Pan-Jamaican takes its responsibility 
as a good corporate citizen seriously.  
It is our pledge in 2011 and beyond 
to continually enhance our efforts on 
behalf of the communities within our 
sphere of influence, our environment, 
our clients, our members and the 
wider society as we take our business 
and the economy forward.

Corporate Social Responsibility (Cont’d)

A skilled and motivated 
workforce helps to drive 
business success, so we take 
a holistic approach to the 
needs of individuals as a 
part of our business strategy. 

Golf for Charity: 
Hon. Maurice Facey OJ., JP. 
(Patron Cecil Boswell Facey 
Foundation) presents a 
prize to Mark Jones, winner 
of the annual Lloyd Facey 
Memorial Golf Tournament, 
sponsored by the 
Foundation, the proceeds of 
which benefit The Wortley 
Home.  
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Independent Auditors’ Report
To the Members of
Pan-Jamaican Investment Trust Limited

Report on the Consolidated Financial Statements
We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Pan-Jamaican Investment Trust Limited, 
its subsidiaries and associated companies (“the group”), and the accompanying financial statements of Pan-
Jamaican Investment Trust Limited standing alone, set out on pages 25 to 89, which comprise the consolidated 
and company statement of financial position as of 31 December 2010 and the consolidated and company income 
statements, the consolidated and company statements of comprehensive income, the consolidated and company 
statements of changes in equity and the consolidated and company statements of cash flows for the year then 
ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance 
with International Financial Reporting Standards and with the requirements of the Jamaican Companies Act. This 
responsibility includes: designing, implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and 
fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatements, whether due to fraud or error; 
selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in 
the circumstances. 

Auditors’ Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our 
audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Those Standards require that we comply with ethical 
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are 
free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of 
the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk 
assessments, the auditor considers internal controls relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of 
the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for 
the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes 
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made 
by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit 
opinion.

Opinion
In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the 
group and the company as of 31 December 2010 and of the financial performance and cash flows of the group 
and the company for the year then ended, so far as concerns the members of the company, in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Jamaican Companies Act.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements
As required by the Jamaican Companies Act, we have obtained all the information and explanations which, to the 
best of our knowledge and belief, were necessary for the purposes of our audit.
In our opinion, proper accounting records have been kept, so far as appears from our examination of those 
records, and the accompanying financial statements are in agreement therewith and give the information required 
by the Act, in the manner so required.

Chartered Accountants

1 March 2011
Kingston, Jamaica

Auditors’ Report

M.G. Rochester    P.W. Pearson    E.A. Crawford    J.W. Lee    C.D.W. Maxwell    P.E. Williams    G.L. Lewars    
L.A. McKnight    L.E. Augier    A.K. Jain    B.L. Scott    B.J. Denning    G.A. Reece   P.A. Williams 
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Year ended 31 December 2010

Consolidated Income Statement

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
Year ended 31 December 2010

(expressed in Jamaican Dollars unless otherwise indicated)
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Consolidated Income Statement 

Earnings per stock unit attributable to owners of the 
 parent during the year    

Basic and fully diluted 11  7.27 8.15 

 
 
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income 
 
 Note  2010 2009 
  $’000 $’000 
    

Net Profit for the year  1,647,322 1,935,133 
    
Other Comprehensive Income    

Exchange differences on translating foreign operations  (4,760) 9,579 
Unrealised gains on available-for-sale financial  
 assets, net of tax  111,507 64,210 

Gain on dilution of shareholding in associated company 8  - 11,119 
Share of other comprehensive income of  
 associated companies  556,132 371,633 

Other Comprehensive Income for the year,  
 net of tax  662,879 456,541 
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME  2,310,201 2,391,674 
    
Attributable to:    

Owners of the parent  1,803,555 1,728,637 
Non-controlling interests  506,646 663,037 
  2,310,201 2,391,674 

 
 
 
 
  
 
 

   2010   2009 
 Note  $’000  $’000 
Income      

Investments 5  148,494 444,103 
Property 6  1,249,059 1,174,446 
Commissions   30,480 30,650 
Other 6  64,912 86,815 
   1,492,945 1,736,014 

Operating expenses 7  (780,073) (705,096) 
Operating Profit   712,872 1,030,918 
Interest expense   (61,683) (51,058) 
Share of results of associated companies    1,172,477 1,124,733 
Gain on acquisition of shares in subsidiary   - 10,427 
Profit before Taxation   1,823,666 2,115,020 
Taxation 10  (176,344) (179,887) 
NET PROFIT   1,647,322 1,935,133 

Attributable to:     

Owners of the parent   1,244,498 1,395,677 
Non-controlling interests   402,824 539,456 

   1,647,322 1,935,133 
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31 December 2010

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

Approved for issue by the Board of Directors on 1 March 2011 and signed on its behalf by:

                                                                                                                                                                                                              
Maurice W. Facey 	 Director 	 Stephen B. Facey 	 Director
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 
   

 Note  
2010
$’000

2009
$’000 

ASSETS   
 Cash and Bank Balances 12  25,947 18,784
 Investments   

 Deposits 12  32,139 122,144
 Investment securities:   

Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss 13  158,902 126,404
 Available-for-sale 13  1,835,750 1,787,993

 Loans and receivables 13  12,117 12,272

   2,006,769 1,926,669

Securities purchased under agreements to resell 14  1,093,979 829,048
 Investment properties 15  3,888,690 3,584,578
 Investment in associated companies 16  7,422,757 6,003,954

   14,444,334 12,466,393
     Other assets   
 Taxation recoverable   47,855 58,250
 Deferred tax assets 17  3,903 10,396

Prepayment and miscellaneous 18  371,707 226,819
 Property, plant and equipment 19  225,440 100,512
 Retirement benefit assets 20  31,708 42,088

   15,150,894 12,923,242

    
STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY AND LIABILITIES    

 Stockholders’ Equity    

 Capital and Reserves Attributable to Owners of the Parent     
       Share capital 25  185,354 185,354
                Equity compensation reserve 26  39,160 34,302
       Property revaluation reserve 27  2,247,786 1,998,504
 Investment and other reserves 28  2,888,608 2,208,021
       Retained earnings   5,274,449 4,525,910
                Treasury stock    (18,486) (18,486)

   10,616,871 8,933,605

  Non-controlling interests   2,469,031 3,248,427

   13,085,902 12,182,032

 Liabilities    

  Bank overdrafts 12  101 2,610
       Taxation payable   34,163 80,689

      Due to related parties 21  5,225 5,225
        Loan liabilities 22  1,591,504 241,924
        Finance lease liability 23  9,844 3,212
        Deferred tax liabilities 17  128,822 104,499
        Retirement benefit liabilities 20  75,650 69,923
        Other liabilities 24  219,683 233,128

                 2,064,992 741,210

   15,150,894 12,923,242

 
 Approved for issue by the Board of Directors on 1 March 2011 and signed on its behalf by: 
 
 
 

 

 
Maurice W. Facey Director  Stephen B. Facey Director
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Year ended 31 December 2010

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

\----------------------------Attributable to Owners of the Parent -----------------------\

Share  
Capital

Equity 
Compensation 

Reserve

Property
Revaluation

Reserve 

Investment 
and Other 
Reserves

Retained  
Earnings

Treasury 
Stock 

Non-
Controlling 

Interests Total
Note $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000

Balance at 1 January 2009 185,354 27,107 1,775,005 1,875,061 3,586,705 (18,486) 2,710,479 10,141,225
Comprehensive income
Net profit - - - - 1,395,677 - 539,456 1,935,133
Other comprehensive 

income:
Exchange differences  
on translating 

 foreign operations - - - 9,579 - - - 9,579
Unrealised gains on 
available-for-sale   
financial assets, net of 
tax - - - 42,784 - - 21,426 64,210

Gain on dilution of 
shareholding in 
associated company - - - 8,151 - - 2,968 11,119

Share of other 
comprehensive income 
of associated companies - - - 272,446 - - 99,187 371,633

Total other comprehensive 
income for the  year - - - 332,960 - - 123,581 456,541

Total comprehensive income 
for the year - - - 332,960 1,395,677 - 663,037 2,391,674

Transactions with owners
Dividends paid to equity 

holders of the company 29 - - - - (232,973) - - (232,973)
Dividends paid to non-

controlling interest non-
controlling interests of a 
subsidiary - - - - - - (88,160) (88,160)

Acquisition of additional 
shareholding in a subsidiary 16 - - - - - - (38,933) (38,933)

Stock compensation 
provision 26 - 7,195 - - - - 2,004 9,199

Total transactions with 
owners - 7,195 - (232,973) - (125,089) (350,867)

Transfer of unrealised 
property revaluation gains - - 223,499 - (223,499) - - -

Balance at  
  31 December 2009 185,354 34,302 1,998,504 2,208,021 4,525,910 (18,486) 3,248,427 12,182,032
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Year ended 31 December 2010

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity (Cont’d)

\-------------------------Attributable to Owners of the Parent---------------------------\

Share  
Capital

Equity 
Compensation 

Reserve

Property
Revaluation

Reserve 

Investment 
and Other 
Reserves

Retained 
Earnings

Treasury 
Stock 

Non-
controlling 

Interests Total
Note $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Balance at 1 January 2010 185,354 34,302 1,998,504 2,208,021 4,525,910 (18,486) 3,248,427 12,182,032
Comprehensive income
Net profit - - - - 1,244,498 - 402,824 1,647,322
Other comprehensive 

income: -
Exchange differences 
on translating foreign 
operations - - - (4,760) - - (4,760)

Unrealised gain on 
available-for-sale 
financial assets, net 
of tax - - - 102,246 - - 9,261 111,507

Share of other 
comprehensive 
income of associated 
companies - - - 461,571 - - 94,561 556,132

Total other comprehensive 
income for the year - - - 559,057 - - 103,822 662,879

Total comprehensive income 
for the year - - - 559,057 1,244,498 - 506,646 2,310,201

Transactions with owners
Dividends paid to equity 

holders of the company 29 - - - - (246,677) - - (246,677)
Dividends paid to non-

controlling interests of a 
subsidiary - - - - - - (92,835) (92,835)

Acquisition of additional 
shareholding in a 
subsidiary 16 - - - 121,530 - - (1,193,990) (1,072,460)

Stock compensation 
provision 26 4,858 - - - - 783 5,641

Total transactions with 
owners 4,858 121,530 (246,677) - (1,286,042) (1,406,331)

Transfer of unrealised 
property revaluation gains - - 249,282 - (249,282) - - -

Balance at  
31 December 2010 185,354 39,160 2,247,786 2,888,608 5,274,449 (18,486) 2,469,031 13,085,902
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Year ended 31 December 2010

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
Page 7 

Pan-Jamaican Investment Trust Limited 
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows 
Year ended 31 December 2010 
(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated)  
 

 

   Note 
2010 

 $’000  
2009 
$’000  

Cash Flows from Operating Activities  30 349,443  551,311 

Cash Flows from Investing Activities      

Acquisition of property, plant and equipment 19 (134,521) (13,752) 
Acquisition of investment properties 15 (3,833) (2,420)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment  3,080  
Acquisition of shares in associated company  (87,222) (177,523) 
Acquisition of additional shares in subsidiary  (1,072,460) (28,506) 
Dividends from associated company  397,028 523,960 
Acquisition of investment securities, net  (238,328) 452,131 
Other investing activities  (165,001) - 
Net cash (used in)/provided by investing activities  (1,301,257) 753,890 

Cash Flows from Financing Activities      
Related parties  - (7) 
Loans received  1,512,197 53,653 
Loans repaid  (160,016) (352,521) 
Interest repaid  (55,159) (45,931) 
Finance lease received/(repaid)  6,632 (5,550) 
Dividends paid to non-controlling interest in subsidiary   (92,835) (88,160) 
Dividends paid to equity holders 29 (246,677) (232,973) 

 Net cash provided by/(used in) financing activities  964,142 (671,489) 
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 12,328 633,712
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents (28,311) 32,504
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year   964,639  298,423 
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR 12 948,656  964,639 
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Dividends paid to equity holders 29 (246,677) (232,973) 

 Net cash provided by/(used in) financing activities  964,142 (671,489) 
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 12,328 633,712
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents (28,311) 32,504
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year   964,639  298,423 
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR 12 948,656  964,639 
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Company Income Statement  
 

 

 Note  
2010 
$’000 

2009
$’000  

Income     

 Investments  5  397,134 295,974 
 Management fees 6  24,126 22,320 
 Miscellaneous 6  3,080 - 
    424,340 318,294 
Expenses     

Operating expenses 7  68,341 69,222 
 Interest expense   40,332 6,036 
    108,673 75,258 
Profit before Taxation   315,667 243,036 
Taxation 10  - - 

NET PROFIT   315,667 243,036 

  

 

 

 

 

Company Statement of Comprehensive Income  
    
   2010 2009

  $’000 $’000
   

Net Profit for the year  315,667 243,036
   
Other Comprehensive Income   

Unrealised gain/(loss) on available-for-sale financial assets, net of tax  35,814 (16,572)

Other Comprehensive income for the year, net of tax  35,814 (16,572)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME  351,481 226,464
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  Note  
2010
$’000 

2009
$’000 

ASSETS  
 Cash and Bank Balances 12  4,731 1,879
 Investments  

Deposits  17,068 -
Investment securities  

 Available-for-sale securities 13  260,743 237,607
Loans and receivables 13  3,840 3,995

  264,583 241,602
Securities purchased under agreements to resell 14  36,179 3,371
Investment in subsidiaries 16  1,161,733 96,177
Investment in associated companies 16  199,819 199,819

   1,679,382 540,969
        Other Assets  

Due from related parties 21  172,276 181,561
Taxation recoverable  2,695 5,107
Deferred tax assets 17  1,240 1,240
Prepayment and miscellaneous 18  594 3,916
Property, plant and equipment 19  20,492 3,497
Retirement benefit assets 20  13,026 5,354

   1,894,436 743,523

 
STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY AND LIABILITIES  
    Stockholders’ Equity     
  Share capital 25  185,354 185,354 

Equity compensation reserve 26  9,115 8,079
  Investment and other reserves 28  172,872 137,058
  Retained earnings   227,447 161,671 
   594,788 492,162 

Liabilities  
 Bank overdraft 12  101 -

Due to related parties 21  162,777 181,689 
Loan liabilities 22  1,075,180 -
Finance lease liability 23  180 1,313
Retirement benefit liabilities 20  20,222 19,767
Other liabilities 24  41,188 48,592 

   1,299,648 251,361 
   1,894,436 743,523 
 
Approved for issue by the Board of Directors on 1 March 2011 signed on its behalf by: 

 

 

 
Maurice W. Facey Director  Stephen B. Facey Director
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Pan-Jamaican Investment Trust Limited 
Company Statement of Changes in Equity 
Year ended 31 December 2010 
(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated)  
 

 

 Note 
Share 

Capital 

Equity 
Compensation 

Reserve 

Investment 
and Other 
Reserves 

Retained 
Earnings Total 

 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Balance at 1 January 2009  185,354 6,390 153,630 154,643 500,017 
Comprehensive income     
Net profit - - - 243,036 243,036 
Other comprehensive income:     

Unrealised loss on available-for-sale financial 
assets, net of tax - - (16,572) - (16,572)

Total other comprehensive income - - (16,572) - (16,572)
Total comprehensive income for the year - - (16,572) 243,036 226,464 
Transactions with owners     
Dividends paid  29 - - - (236,008) (236,008)
Stock compensation provision 26 - 1,689 - - 1,689 
Total transactions with owners  - 1,689 - (236,008) (234,319)
Balance at 31 December 2009  185,354 8,079 137,058 161,671 492,162 
Comprehensive income     
Net profit   315,667 315,667 
Other comprehensive income:     

Unrealised gain on available-for-sale 
financial assets, net of tax  35,814  35,814 

Total other comprehensive income - - 35,814 - 35,814 
Total comprehensive income for the year - - 35,814 315,667 351,481 
Transactions with owners     
Dividends paid  29 - - - (249,891) (249,891)
Stock compensation provision 26 - 1,036 - - 1,036 
Total transactions with owners - 1,036 - (249,891) (248,855)

Balance at 31 December 2010 185,354 9,115 172,872 227,447 594,788 
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 Note 
2010 

 $’000  
2009 
$’000  

Cash Flows from Operating Activities  30 
 

357,243  230,587 

Cash Flows from Investing Activities      

Acquisition of additional shares in subsidiary  (1,065,556) (28,506) 
Acquisition of shares in associated company  - (177,523) 
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment 19 (17,757) (1,122) 
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment  3,080 - 
Investment securities, net  (17,068) 10,834 
Net cash used in investing activities  (1,097,301) (196,317) 

Cash Flows from Financing Activities      
Related parties   (1,682) 208,373 
Loan received   1,067,203 - 
Loans repaid   - (1,000) 
Interest repaid   (38,418) (38) 
Finance lease repaid   (1,133) (3,440) 
Dividends paid 29  (249,891) (236,008) 

 Net cash provided by/(used in) financing activities   776,079 (32,113) 
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents  36,021 2,157
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents (462) 107
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year   5,250  2,986 
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR 12  40,809  5,250 
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1. Identification and Principal Activities 
 

(a) Pan-Jamaican Investment Trust Limited, (“the company”) is incorporated and domiciled in Jamaica. The company is listed on the 
Jamaica Stock Exchange. 

 
 (b) The main activity of the company is the direction and control of the operations of its subsidiaries and associated companies.  The 

company’s income consists mainly of dividends, interest income and management fees earned from its subsidiaries and associated 
companies.   The registered office of the company is located at 60 Knutsford Boulevard, Kingston 5. 

 
(c) The company’s subsidiaries, associated companies, and other consolidated entities, which together with the company are referred to 

as “the group” are as follows: 
 

 Principal Activities  
Proportion of issued 

 equity capital held by 
 Subsidiaries   Company Subsidiaries 

 First Jamaica Investments Limited Investments  83.0%

 Jamaica Property Company Limited Commercial Property Rental  - 100% 

 Jamaica Property Development Limited Property Management  - 100% 

 Jamaica Property Management Limited Property Management  - 100% 

  Imbrook Properties Limited Property Development  - 100%

  Portfolio Partners Limited Investment Management  - 100% 

  Jamaican Floral Exports Limited Horticulture  80% -

  Jamaican Heart Limited Horticulture  - 100% 

  Pan-Jamaican Mortgage Society Limited Financial Services  100% -  

  Scotts Preserves Limited Distribution  100% -
  Busha Browne's Company Limited Distribution  100% -

 St Andrew Developers Limited Property Development   -           66.67% 
  Knutsford Holdings Limited Office Rental  - 60% 
 Panacea Holdings Limited  

    (Incorporated in St. Lucia) 
Investments 

 100% - 

  Panacea Insurance Limited  Captive Insurance  - 100%
   (Incorporated in St. Lucia)  
                  Castleton Investments Limited                        

     (Incorporated in St Lucia) 
Investment Management 

 - 100% 

 Associated Companies  

  Hardware & Lumber Limited Retail and Trading  20.83% - 

Sagicor Life Jamaica Limited Insurance and Pension Management  - 24.78%

  Impan Properties Limited Office Rental             -  20%  

  New Castle Company Limited 
  (Incorporated in St. Lucia)  

Consumer Products 
 25%  

           Other consolidated entity     

                  First Jamaica Employees share  
  ownership scheme Employees share ownership plan  - 100% 
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1. Identification and Principal Activities (Continued) 
 

(d) All the company’s subsidiaries and associated companies are incorporated and domiciled in Jamaica, except as otherwise indicated. 
The group’s holding in Castleton Investments Limited (“Castleton”) was acquired during the year.  The company’s shareholding in First 
Jamaica Investments Limited increased to 83% (2009 – 73%).  There were no other significant changes in the group’s shareholdings 
in the other entities during the current year. 

 
2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 
 

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set out below. These policies have been 
consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated. 

 
 (a) Basis of preparation 

The consolidated financial statements of the group and the financial statements of the company standing alone (together referred to 
as the financial statements) have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). The financial 
statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, as modified by the revaluation of investment properties, 
available-for-sale financial assets, and financial assets at fair value through profit and loss. 
 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also 
requires management to exercise its judgment in the process of applying the group’s accounting policies. The areas involving a higher 
degree of judgment or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the consolidated financial statements, 
are disclosed in Note 3. 
 
Standards and amendments to published standards effective 1 January 2010 that are relevant to the group’s operations  
The following standards and amendments to previously existing standards, which became effective in the current financial year are 
relevant to the group, and have impacted the financial statements as described below. 
 
● IAS 1 (Amendment), ‘Presentation of financial statements’.  The amendment provides clarification that the potential 

settlement of a liability by issue of equity is not relevant to its classification as current or non-current.  By amending the 
definition of current liability, the amendment permits a liability to be classified as non current (provided that the entity has an 
unconditional right to defer settlement by transfer of cash or other assets for at least 12 months after the accounting period) 
notwithstanding the fact that the entity could be required by the counterparty to settle in shares at any time. The new guidance 
has had no impact on the group’s financial statements, as the group and the company present an unclassified Statement of 
financial position. 

 
● IFRS 3 (revised), ‘Business combinations’, and consequential amendments to IAS 27, ‘Consolidated and separate 

financial statements’, IAS 28, ‘Investments in associates’, and IAS 31, ‘Interests in joint ventures’, - The revised standard 
is to be applied prospectively to business combinations for which the acquisition date is on or after the beginning of the first 
annual reporting period beginning on or after 1 July 2009.  The revised standard continues to apply the acquisition method to 
business combinations but with some significant changes compared with IFRS 3. For example, all payments to purchase a 
business are recorded at fair value at the acquisition date, with contingent payments classified as debt subsequently 
remeasured through the statement of comprehensive income. There is a choice on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis to 
measure the non-controlling interest in the acquiree either at fair value or at the non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of 
the acquiree’s net assets. All acquisition-related costs are now expensed. Where control is achieved in stages, the revised 
standard also requires goodwill to be determined only at the acquisition date rather than at the previous stages. The 
determination of goodwill includes a requirement for the previously held equity interest to be adjusted to fair value, with any gain 
or loss recorded in the income statement.  

 
 
● IAS 27 (revised) requires the effects of all transactions with non-controlling interests to be recorded in equity if there is no 

change in control and these transactions will no longer result in goodwill or gains and losses. The standard also specifies the 
accounting when control is lost. Any remaining interest in the entity is re-measured to fair value, and a gain or loss is recognised 
in profit or loss. 

 
● IAS 28 (revised) requires that gains or losses on the dilution of investments in associated companies, where the group retains 

significant influence, be recorded in the income statement.   
 
 The adoption of this standard resulted in the effects of the current year’s acquisition of additional shares in a subsidiary, being 

recorded in equity.  There were also no dilutions of the group’s holdings in its associated companies.  The aforementioned 
amendments are applied prospectively. 
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 

 
(a)  Basis of preparation (continued) 

 
Standards, interpretations and amendments to published standards that are not yet effective 

 At the date of authorisation of these financial statements, certain new standards, interpretations and amendments to existing 
standards have been issued which are mandatory for the group’s accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2011 or later 
periods, but were not effective at the statement of financial position date, one of which the group has early adopted. The group has 
assessed the relevance of all such new standards, interpretations and amendments, has determined that the following may be 
immediately relevant to its operations, and has concluded as follows: 

 
• Amendment to IAS 12, ‘Income taxes’, effective 1 January 2012 (Early adopted by the group). This amendment introduces 

rebuttable presumption that value of investment property measured at fair value will be recovered entirely through sale. 
Management has early adopted this standard and has determined that there is no material impact on the group’s financial 
statements. 

 
• IAS 24 (Revised), ‘Related party disclosures’, effective 1 January 2011.  This amendment removes the requirement for 

government related entities to disclose details of all transactions with the government and other government-related entities and 
it clarifies and simplifies the definition of a related party.  The new guidance is not expected to have a material impact on the 
group’s financial statements. 

 
• Amendment to IFRS 7, ‘Financial Instruments: Disclosure’, effective 1 July 2011. The amendments will promote 

transparency in the reporting of transfer transactions and improve users' understanding of the risk exposures relating to transfers 
of financial assets and the effect of those risks on an entity’s financial position, particularly those involving securitisation of 
financial assets. Management is of the view that the amendment will not impact the group, as it presently does not participate in 
securitization transactions.  

 
• IFRS 9, ‘Financial instruments’.  The standard introduces new requirements for the classification and measurement of financial 

assets and financial liabilities and is effective from 1 January 2013 with early adoption permitted.  The standard divides all 
financial assets and financial liabilities that are currently in the scope of IAS 39 into two classifications – those measured at 
amortised cost and those measured at fair value.  This standard is a work in progress and will eventually replace IAS 39 in its 
entirety. 

  
 (b) Basis of consolidation 

 
(i)  Subsidiaries 

The group uses the acquisition method of accounting to account for business combinations. The consideration transferred for the 
acquisition of a subsidiary is the fair values of the assets transferred, the liabilities incurred and the equity interests issued by the 
group. The consideration transferred includes the fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a contingent consideration 
arrangement. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred. 
 
Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured initially at 
their fair values at the acquisition date. On an acquisition-by-acquisition basis, the group recognises any non-controlling interest in 
the acquiree either at fair value or at the non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of the acquiree’s net assets. Investments in 
subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less impairment. Cost is adjusted to reflect changes in consideration arising from contingent 
consideration amendments. Cost also includes direct attributable costs of investment.  
 
The excess of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the acquisition-date fair 
value of any previous equity interest in the acquiree over the fair value of the group’s share of the identifiable net assets acquired is 
recorded as goodwill. If this is less than the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired in the case of a bargain 
purchase, the difference is recognised directly in the statement of comprehensive income. 
 
Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between group companies are eliminated. Unrealised 
losses are also eliminated. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the 
policies adopted by the group. 
 

(ii)  Transactions and non-controlling interests 
The group treats transactions with non-controlling interests as transactions with equity owners of the group. For purchases from 
non-controlling interests, the difference between any consideration paid and the relevant share acquired of the carrying value of net 
assets of the subsidiary is recorded in equity. Gains or losses on disposals to non-controlling interests are also recorded in equity.   
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 
  
 (b) Basis of consolidation (continued) 
                     (ii)  Transactions and non-controlling interests (Continued) 

When the group ceases to have control or significant influence, any retained interest in the entity is remeasured to its fair value, with 
the change in carrying amount recognised in profit or loss. The fair value is the initial carrying amount for the purposes of 
subsequently accounting for the retained interest as an associate, joint venture or financial asset. In addition, any amounts 
previously recognised in other comprehensive income in respect of that entity are accounted for as if the group had directly disposed 
of the related assets or liabilities. This may mean that amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income are 
reclassified to profit or loss. If the ownership interest in an associate is reduced but significant influence is retained, only a 
proportionate share of the amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or loss where 
appropriate. 

 
(iii) Associates 

Associates are all entities over which the group has significant influence but not control, generally accompanying a shareholding of 
between 20% and 50% of the voting rights. Investments in associates are accounted for by the equity method of accounting and are 
initially recognised at cost. The group’s investment in associates includes goodwill (net of any accumulated impairment loss) 
identified on acquisition. 

 
The group’s share of its associates’ post-acquisition profits or losses is recognised in the income statement, and its share of post-
acquisition movements in reserves is recognised in other comprehensive income. The cumulative post-acquisition movements are 
adjusted against the carrying amount of the investment. When the group’s share of losses in an associate equals or exceeds its 
interest in the associate, including any other unsecured receivables, the group does not recognise further losses, unless it has 
incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate. 

   
Unrealised gains on transactions between the group and its associates are eliminated to the extent of the group’s interest in the 
associates. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset 
transferred. In the company’s statement of financial position, investments in associates are shown at cost. 
 
Dilution gains and losses in investments in associated companies are recognised in the income statement 

 
(c) Income recognition 

                      (i)    Interest income and expenses 
 Interest income is recognised in the income statement for all interest bearing instruments on an accrual basis using the effective 

yield method based on the actual purchase price. Interest income includes coupons earned on fixed income investments and 
accrued discount or premium on treasury bills and other discounted instruments.  When amounts receivable in connection with 
investments become doubtful of collection, they are written down to their recoverable amounts and interest income is thereafter 
recognised based on the rate of interest that was used to discount the future cash flows for the purpose of measuring the 
recoverable amount.  

 
(ii) Dividend income 

     Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive payment is established. 
 
                    (iii) Property income 

Revenue comprises the invoiced value of rental and maintenance charges, net of General Consumption Tax, and changes in fair 
values of investment properties. Rental income and maintenance charges are recognised on an accrual basis over the life of the 
building occupancy by tenants. Investment properties are valued on an annual basis by external professional valuators and the 
change in the fair value is recognised in the income statement. 
 

                    (iv)   Commission income 
        Commissions are recognised as revenue on an accrual basis. 

    
(d)     Foreign currency translation 

 (i) Functional and presentation currency 
Items included in the financial statements of each of the group’s entities are measured using the currency of the primary economic 
environment in which the entity operates (‘the functional currency’). The financial statements are presented in Jamaican dollars, 
which is also the company’s functional currency. 
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2.      Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 
 

(d)    Foreign currency translation (continued) 
 

  (ii)    Transactions and balances 
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the 
transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation at year-
end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the income statement.  
 
Changes in the fair value of monetary assets denominated in foreign currencies and classified as available-for-sale are analysed 
between translation differences resulting from changes in the amortised cost of the asset and other changes.  Translation 
differences resulting from the changes in amortised cost are recognised in the income statement, and other changes are recognised 
in other comprehensive income. 
 
Translation differences on non-monetary items such as equities classified as available-for-sale are included in the fair value reserve. 
 

 (iii)    Group companies 
The results and financial position of all the Group entities that have a functional currency different from the presentation currency are 
translated into the presentation currency as follows: 
 
• Assets and liabilities for each statement of financial position presented are translated at the closing rate at the date of that 

statement of financial position; 
• Income and expenses for each statement of comprehensive income or separate income statement presented are translated at 

average exchange rates; and 
• All resulting exchange differences are recognized in other comprehensive income. 

 
 
 (e) Taxation 

Taxation expense in the income statement comprises current and deferred tax.  Current and deferred taxes are recognised as income tax 
expense or benefit in the income statement except, where they relate to items recorded in other comprehensive income, in which case 
they are also charged or credited to other comprehensive income.  Taxation is based on profit for the year adjusted for taxation purposes 
at 33⅓%. 

 
  (i)  Current taxation   

  Current tax is the expected taxation payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted at the statement of 
financial position date, and any adjustment to tax payable and tax losses in respect of the previous years. 

 
  (ii) Deferred income taxes 

   Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities and their 
amounts as measured for tax purposes, which will result in taxable amounts in future periods.  Deferred tax is provided on 
temporary differences arising from investments in subsidiaries, except where the timing of reversal of the temporary difference 
can be controlled and it is probable that the difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets are 
recognised for temporary differences which will result in deductible amounts in future periods, but only to the extent it is 
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available against which these differences can be utilised. 

 
 Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the asset will 

be realised or the liability will be settled based on enacted rates.  
    

Deferred tax is not recognised on changes in the fair values of investment properties in excess of cost, as it is management’s 
intention to recover such surplus through sale, which would not attract any taxes. 

 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when they arise from the same taxable entity, relate to the same tax authority and 
when the legal right of offset exists. 
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 
 
 (f) Financial instruments 

A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to both a financial asset in one entity and a financial liability or equity of 
another entity. 

Financial assets 

The group’s financial assets comprise cash and bank balances, deposits, investment securities, and accounts receivable including 
balances due from related parties. The particular recognition methods adopted are disclosed in the individual policy statements 
associated with each item.  

Financial liabilities 

The group’s financial liabilities comprise bank overdraft, trade payables, loans, finance lease liabilities and other liabilities. They 
are initially measured at fair value, and are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.  

   
The fair values of the group’s and the company’s financial instruments are discussed in Note 33. 

 
 (g) Cash and cash equivalents 

  Cash and cash equivalents are carried on the statement of financial position at cost.  For the purpose of the consolidated statement 
of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise investment securities with less than 90 days maturity from the date of acquisition 
including cash balances, short term deposits, securities purchased under agreements to resell and bank overdrafts. 

 
 (h) Investments 

  (i)  Investment securities 
The group classifies its investment securities as available-for-sale, fair value through profit and loss, and loans and receivables. 
 The classification depends on the purpose for which the investments were acquired. Management determines the 
classification of its investments at initial recognition and re-evaluates this designation at every reporting date. 

 
Purchases and sales of investments are recognised on settlement date – the date on which an asset is delivered to or by the 
group. Investments are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the investments have expired or have been 
transferred and the group has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of ownership. 
 
Investments are initially recognised at fair value which is the cash consideration including any transaction costs, for all financial 
assets not carried at fair value through profit and loss.  Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are recorded at fair 
value less transaction costs, as transaction costs are taken directly to the income statement.  
 
(a) Available-for-sale financial assets 

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivatives that are either designated in this category or not classified in any of 
the other categories.  Available-for-sale financial assets are carried at fair value.  Changes in the fair value of available-for-
sale investments denominated in the functional currency of the reporting entity are recorded in other comprehensive 
income, and under investment and other reserves in equity. Changes in the fair value of foreign currency denominated 
available-for-sale financial assets are discussed in Note 2(d) (ii) 

 
When securities classified as available-for-sale are sold or impaired, the accumulated fair value adjustments previously 
recognised in other comprehensive income are included in the income statement as investment income.  
 
The group assesses at each statement of financial position date whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset 
or a group of financial assets is impaired. For debt securities, objective evidence of impairment includes significant 
difficulties on the part of the borrower and attempts to restructure the contractual cash flows associated with the debt.  In 
the case of equity securities classified as available for sale, a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of the 
security below its cost is considered an indicator that the securities are impaired. If any such evidence exists for available-
for-sale financial assets, the cumulative loss – measured as the difference between the acquisition cost and the current 
fair value, less any impairment loss on that financial asset previously recognised in the income statement – is removed 
from equity and recognised in the income statement. Impairment losses recognised in the income statement on equity 
instruments are not reversed through the income statement.  

 
                      The determination of the fair values of financial assets is discussed in Note 33. 
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2.      Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 
     
          (h)      Investments (continued) 
 

(b)   Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss 
                   Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are financial assets held for trading. A financial asset is classified in this         
                   category if acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the short term.  These assets are subsequently measured at fair       
                   value, with the fair value gains or losses being recognized in the income statement. 

 
 
       (c)    Loans and receivables 

Loans and receivables are carried at amortised cost. 
 
Loans are recognised when cash is advanced to borrowers.  They are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest rate 
method. 

 
A provision for credit losses is established if there is objective evidence that a loan is impaired.  A loan is considered impaired 
when using the criteria for debt securities discussed under available-for-sale securities, management determines that it is 
probable that all amounts due according to the original contractual terms will not be collected.  When a loan has been identified 
as impaired, the carrying amount of the loan is reduced by recording specific provisions for credit losses to its estimated 
recoverable amount, which is the present value of expected future cash flows including amounts recoverable from guarantees 
and collateral, discounted at the original effective interest rate of the loan.  
 
For impaired loans and receivables, the accrual of interest income based on the original terms of the loan is discontinued.  
IFRS require the increase in the present value of impaired loans due to the passage of time to be reported as interest income.   
Write-offs are made when all or part of a loan is deemed uncollectible or in the case of debt forgiveness.  Write-offs are 
charged against previously established provisions for credit losses and reduce the principal amount of a loan.  Recoveries in 
part or in full of amounts previously written-off are credited to the income statement. 
 

 (ii) Securities purchased under agreements to resell 
  Securities purchased under agreements to resell (reverse repurchase agreements) are treated as collateralised financing 

transactions. The difference between the purchase and resale price is treated as interest and accrued over the life of the 
agreements using the effective yield method. 

 
 (iii)   Investment property 

Investment property is held for long-term rental yields and is not occupied by the group.  Investment property is treated as a long-
term investment and is carried at fair value, based on fair market valuation exercises conducted annually by independent qualified 
valuers.  Changes in fair values are recorded in the income statement. 

 
 (i) Leases 
  As lessee  

  Leases of property, plant and equipment where the group has substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are classified as 
finance leases.  Finance leases are capitalised at the inception of the lease at the lower of the fair value of the leased asset or the present 
value of minimum lease payments.  Each lease payment is allocated between the liability and interest charges so as to produce a 
constant rate of charge on the lease obligation.  The interest element of the lease payments is charged to the income statement over the 
lease period. 

 
  Leases where a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are classified as operating leases.  

Payments under operating leases are charged to the income statement on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease.  
 
 (j) Property, plant and equipment 

Property, plant and equipment is stated at historical cost less depreciation. Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly 
attributable to the acquisition of the items.  

 
Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is 
probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the group and the cost of the item can be measured 
reliably. If such subsequent cost relates to a replaced part, the carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised. All other repairs 
and maintenance costs are charged to the income statement during the financial period in which they are incurred. 
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 

 
          (j)   Property, plant and equipment (continued) 

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate their cost to their residual values over their estimated useful 
lives, as follows: 

   Freehold premises        2½%   
   Leasehold improvements    over the period of the lease 
   Furniture, fixtures & equipment           10% & 12½%   
   Assets capitalised under finance leases             Life of lease           
   Motor vehicles                               15% - 20% 

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each statement of financial position date.   
  

  An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than its 
estimated recoverable amount. 

 
Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount and are recognised in the 
income statement. 

 
(k) Inventories 

  Inventories are valued on the first-in, first-out basis at the lower of cost and net realisable value. 
 
 (l) Employee benefits 
  (i) Pension obligations 

   The company and its subsidiaries operate a number of defined benefit pension plans, the assets of which are generally held in 
separate trustee-administered funds. The pension plans are funded by payments from employees and by the relevant 
companies, taking into account the recommendations of independent qualified actuaries. A defined benefit plan is a pension 
plan that is not a defined contribution plan. Typically, defined benefit plans define an amount of pension benefit that an 
employee will receive on retirement, usually dependent on one or more factors such as age, years of service and 
compensation. 

 
   The amount recognised in the statement of financial position in respect of defined benefit pension plans is the present value of 

the defined benefit obligation at the statement of financial position date less the fair value of plan assets, together with 
adjustments for unrecognised actuarial gains or losses and past service costs. The defined benefit obligation is calculated 
annually by independent actuaries using the projected unit credit method. The present value of the defined benefit obligation is 
determined by discounting the estimated future cash outflows using interest rates of high-quality Government of Jamaica bonds 
that are denominated in the currency in which the benefits will be paid and that have terms to maturity approximating to the 
terms of the related pension liability. 

   
   Actuarial gains and losses arising from experience adjustments and changes in actuarial assumptions in excess of the greater of 

10% of the value of plan assets or 10% of the defined benefit obligation are charged or credited to income over the employees’ 
expected average remaining working lives.  

 
Past-service costs are recognised immediately in income, unless the changes to the pension plan are conditional on the 
employees remaining in service for a specified period of time (the vesting period). In this case, the past-service costs are 
amortised on a straight-line basis over the vesting period. 

 
  (ii) Other post-employment benefits 
   Some group companies provide post-employment healthcare benefits to their retirees. The entitlement to these benefits is usually 

conditional on the employee remaining in service up to retirement age and the completion of a minimum service period. The 
expected costs of these benefits are accrued over the period of employment using the same accounting methodology as used for 
defined benefit pension plans. Actuarial gains and losses arising from experience adjustments, and changes in actuarial 
assumptions in excess of the greater of 10% of the value of plan assets or 10% of the defined benefit obligation, are charged or 
credited to the income statement over the expected average remaining working lives of the related employees.  These obligations 
are valued annually by independent qualified actuaries. 
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 
  (l) Employee benefits (continued) 
 
  (iii) Annual leave entitlements 

   Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised when they accrue to employees.  A provision is made for the estimated 
liability for annual leave as a result of services rendered by employees up to the statement of financial position date. 

 
  (iv)   Equity compensation benefits 

The group operates an equity-settled share-based compensation plan. The fair value of the employee services received in 
exchange for the grant of the options is recognised as an expense in the company which is the primary recipient of the 
employee’s services.  The total amount expensed over the vesting period is determined by reference to the fair value of the 
options granted, excluding the impact of any non-market vesting conditions (for example, net profit growth target). Non-market 
vesting conditions are included in assumptions about the number of options that are expected to become exercisable.  At each 
statement of financial position date, the group reviews its estimates of the number of options that are expected to become 
exercisable.  It recognises the impact of the revision of original estimates, if any, in the income statement, and a corresponding 
adjustment to equity over the remaining vesting period. The proceeds received net of any directly attributable transaction costs 
are credited to share capital when the options are exercised. 

 
The cost of equity transactions is recognised, together with a corresponding increase in equity, over the period in which the 
performance and/or service conditions are fulfilled, ending on the date on which the relevant employee becomes fully entitled to 
the award (the vesting date). 

 
The cumulative expense recognised for equity-settled transactions at each reporting date until the vesting date reflects the 
extent to which the vesting period has expired and the group’s best estimate of the number of equity instruments that will 
ultimately vest.  The charge or credit to the income statement for a period represents the movement in cumulative expense 
recognised as at the beginning and end of that period. 

  
No expense is recognised for awards that do not ultimately vest, except for awards where vesting is conditional upon a market 
condition, which are treated as vested irrespective of whether or not the market condition is satisfied, provided that all other 
performance conditions are satisfied. 
 
Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as a minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not been 
modified.  In addition, an expense is recognised for any modification which increases the total fair value of the share-based 
payment arrangement, or is otherwise beneficial to the employee as measured at the date of modification. 

 
                    (v)    Termination benefits 

  Termination benefits are payable whenever an employee’s employment is terminated before the normal retirement date or 
whenever an employee accepts voluntary redundancy in exchange for these benefits.  The group recognises termination benefits 
when it is demonstrably committed either to terminate the employment of current employees according to a detailed formal plan 
without the possibility of withdrawal or to provide termination benefits as a result of an offer made to encourage voluntary 
redundancy.  Benefits falling due more than twelve (12) months after the statement of financial position date are discounted to 
present value. 

 
(m) Impairment of non-financial assets  
 Assets that have an indefinite useful life, for example land, are not subject to amortisation and are tested annually for impairment. 

Assets that are subject to amortisation are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the 
carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds 
its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use. For the 
purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash flows (cash-
generating units). Non-financial assets other than goodwill that suffered impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment 
at each reporting date. 
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 
 

(n) Intangible assets 
 Goodwill 
 Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of an acquisition over the fair value of the group’s share of the net identifiable assets of the 

acquired subsidiary/associate at the acquisition date.  Goodwill on acquisition of subsidiaries is included in intangible assets. Goodwill 
on acquisition of associates is included in investments in associates.   

 At each statement of financial position date the group assesses whether there is any indication of impairment. If such indications exist, an 
analysis is performed to assess whether the carrying amount of goodwill is fully recoverable.  A write down is made if the carrying amount 
exceeds the recoverable amount. 

 
(o) Provisions 

  Provisions are recognised when the group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events, it is probable that 
an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate of the amount can be made. Where the group 
expects a provision to be reimbursed, for example under an insurance contract, the reimbursement is recognised as a separate 
asset but only when the reimbursement is virtually certain. 

 
 (p) Dividends 
  Dividends are recorded as a deduction from stockholders’ equity in the period in which they are approved. 
 

(q) Share capital 
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. 

 
Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds. 

 
 (r) Segment reporting 

  Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision-maker.  The 
chief operating decision-maker, who is responsible for allocating resources and assessing performance of the operating segments, has 
been identified as the executive committee that makes strategic decisions.   

  
3. Critical Accounting Judgements and Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty  
 

Judgements and estimates are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future 
events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. 
 
The group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the 
related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of 
assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below. 
 
(i) Estimated impairment of goodwill 
 The group tests annually whether goodwill has suffered any impairment, in accordance with the accounting policy stated in Note 2(n). 
 
(ii) Income taxes 
 The group is subject to income taxes in numerous jurisdictions. Significant judgement is required in determining the provision for income 

taxes. The group recognises liabilities for anticipated tax audit issues based on estimates of whether additional taxes will be due. Where 
the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will impact the income 
tax and deferred tax provisions in the period in which such determination is made. 

 
(iii) Fair value of financial instruments 
 The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market is determined by using valuation techniques. The 

group uses its judgment to select a variety of methods and valuation inputs and make assumptions that are mainly based on market 
conditions existing at each statement of financial position date. The group uses discounted cash flow analyses and references to 
prices for other instruments that are substantially the same for various available-for-sale financial assets that were not traded in 
active markets.  Details of investment securities valued using other than quoted prices in an active market are provided in Note 33 
of the financial statements. 
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3. Critical Accounting Judgements and Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty (Continued) 
 
(iv) Impairment of investment securities and investment in associated companies 
 The group follows the guidance of IAS 39, IAS 28 and IAS 36 to determine when an investment security or an investment in an 

associated company is impaired.  In making this determination for investment securities, the group evaluates, among other factors, 
financial difficulties on the part of the borrowers and variations to the contractual cash flows associated with the investment for debt 
instruments, and the duration for and extent to which the fair value of an available-for-sale equity investment is lower than its cost. 
For investments in associated companies, management determines the investment's recoverable amount, and compares this to the 
investment's carrying amount. Management's evaluation of the aforementioned factors for debt and equity securities, as well as the 
determination of the recoverable amount for its investment in associated companies requires the use of significant judgement. 
Except as otherwise disclosed in the notes to the financial statements, management is of the view that there is no impairment to 
investment securities or investment in associated companies.   

 
(iv) Pension plan assets and post employment obligations 
 The cost of these benefits and the present value of the pension and the other post-employment liabilities depend on a number of factors 

that are determined on an actuarial basis using a number of assumptions. The assumption used in determining the net periodic cost or 
income for pension and post-employment benefits include the expected long-term rate of return on the relevant plan assets, the discount 
rate and, in the case of the post-employment medical benefits, the expected rate of increase in medical costs. Any changes in these 
assumptions will impact the net periodic cost or income recorded for pension and post-employment benefits and may affect planned 
funding of the pension plans. The expected return on plan assets assumption is determined on a uniform basis, considering long-term 
historical returns, asset allocation and future estimates of long-term investment returns. The group determines the appropriate discount 
rate at the end of each year, which represents the interest rate that should be used to determine the present value of estimated future 
cash outflows expected to be required to settle the pension and post-employment benefit obligations. In determining the appropriate 
discount rate, the group considers the interest rates of high-quality corporate bonds that are denominated in the currency in which the 
benefits will be paid, and that have terms to maturity approximating the terms of the related pension liability. The expected rate of 
increase of medical costs has been determined by comparing the historical relationship of the actual medical cost increases with the rate 
of inflation in the respective economies. Other key assumptions for the pension and post retirement benefits cost and credits are based 
in part on current market conditions. A change in any of the assumptions used could have a significant impact on the value of the related 
retirement benefit asset or liability 

 
 (v)   Investment properties 
 Investment properties are carried in the statement of financial position at market value. The group uses independent qualified property 

appraisers to value its investment properties annually, generally using the income approach. This approach takes into consideration 
various assumptions and factors including; the level of current and future occupancy, the rate of annual rent increases, the rate of 
inflation of direct expenses, a discount rate, and the current condition of the properties. Reference is also made to recent comparable 
sales. A change in any of these assumptions and factors could have a significant impact on the valuation of investment properties. 
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4.     Segmental Financial Information 
 
 The group is organised into two main business segments: 

 
(a) Investments – This incorporates investment management and securities trading;  
(b) Property management and rental – This incorporates the rental and management of commercial real estate.  
 
The operating segments have been determined by management based on the reports reviewed by the board and which are used to make 
strategic and operational decisions. The property management and investments segments derive their income from rental and property 
management fees, and interest and dividend income respectively.  

 
 

2010 
 Property 

Management &  
Rental Investments 

Other 
Services Eliminations Total 

 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

External operating revenue 1,353,293 96,674 42,978 - 1,492,945 
Inter-group revenue 10,772 90,498 1,964 (103,234) - 
Total revenue 1,364,065 187,172 44,942 (103,234) 1,492,945 

      
Operating profit 585,826 96,786 30,260 - 712,872 
Interest expense (25,140) (40,759) - 4,216 (61,683)
 560,686 56,027 30,260 4,216 651,189 
Share of results of associated 
 companies - 1,172,477 - - 1,172,477 
Profit before taxation 560,686 1,228,504 30,260 4,216 1,823,666 
Taxation (85,812) (80,435) (10,097) - (176,344)
Net profit 474,874 1,148,069 20,163 4,216 1,647,322 
      
Segment assets 5,298,789 2,382,533 195,952 (149,137) 7,728,137 
Investment in associated 

companies - 7,422,757 - - 7,422,757 
Total assets 5,298,789 9,805,290 195,952 (149,137) 15,150,894 
      
Segment liabilities 765,160 1,270,954 178,015 (149,137) 2,064,992 
      
Other segment items:      
Capital expenditure 116,764 17,757 - - 134,521 
Depreciation 5,546 762 71 - 6,379 
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4. Segmental Financial Information (Continued) 

 
2009 

 Property 
Management &  

Rental Investments 
Other 

Services Eliminations Total 
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

External operating revenue 1,306,585 364,674 64,755 - 1,736,014 
Inter-group revenue 6,926 8,520 - (15,446) - 
Total revenue 1,313,511 373,194 64,755 (15,446) 1,736,014 

      

Operating profit 617,972 360,232 52,714 - 1,030,918 

Interest expense (20,113) (30,945) - - (51,058)

 597,859 329,287 52,714 - 979,860 
Share of results of associated 
 companies - 1,124,733 - - 1,124,733 
Gain on acquisition of shares in   
        subsidiary - 10,427 - - 10,427 

Profit before taxation 597,859 1,464,447 52,714 - 2,115,020 

Taxation (100,423) (79,228) (236) - (179,887)

Net profit 497,436 1,385,219 52,478 - 1,935,133 

      

Segment assets 4,422,100 2,399,068 279,086 (180,966) 6,919,288 
Investment in associated 

companies - 6,003,954 - - 6,003,954 

Total assets 4,422,100 8,403,022 279,086 (180,966) 12,923,242 
      
Segment liabilities 360,622 334,314 227,240 (180,966) 741,210 

      
Other segment items:      
Capital expenditure 12,630 1,122 - - 13,752 
Depreciation 3,991 3,056 102 - 7,149 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Notes to the Financial Statements
31 December 2010

(expressed in Jamaican Dollars unless otherwise indicated)

47ANNUAL REPORT
2 0 1 0

P a n - J a m a i c a n  I n v e s t m e n t  T r u s t  L i m i t e d

 Page 28 

 

 
 
 
5. Investment Income  
 

 The Group  The Company 

 2010 2009 2010 2009 

 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

 Income  
  Interest income -    

Available-for-sale investments 130,692 168,892 24,468 24,896 
Loans and receivables - 391 - 391 
Securities purchased under agreement to resell and deposits 45,150 55,175 643 910 

Realised gains on disposal of investments, net 7,043 22,033 - - 
Fair value gains on financial assets    
     at fair value through profit and loss 14,911 20,788 - - 

                 Impairment losses on available-for-sale investments (24,322) (9,441) - - 
Foreign exchange (losses)/gains, net (61,879) 153,689 (9,937) 25,431 
Dividends 36,659 32,350 381,948 244,346 

  Other 320 257 12 - 

 148,574 444,134 397,134 295,974 

 Direct expenses   
                Investment expense (80) (31) - - 

 148,494 444,103 397,134 295,974 

 
6. Property and Other Income 
 

 The Group  The Company 

 2010 2009 2010 2009 

 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
 Rental income  948,707 869,579 - - 
 Fair value gains on property valuation (Note15) 300,352 304,867 - - 

 1,249,059 1,174,446 -  

Other    
 Management fees 44,519 44,799 24,126 22,320 
 Miscellaneous income 20,393 42,016 3,080 - 

 64,912 86,815 27,206 22,320 
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7. Operating Expenses by Nature 
 The Group The Company 
 2010 2009 2010 2009 
 $’000  $’000 $’000 $’000 

Direct cost of property management (Note 15) 442,778 401,201 - - 
Staff costs (Note 9) 148,788 119,692 7,829 11,824 
Directors fees 37,695 32,106 21,187 18,112 
Professional fees 52,953 40,648 20,119 11,803 
Auditor’s remuneration 15,012 13,560 3,837 3,461 
Information technology services 15,469 14,685 1,284 967 
Office expense 8,173 8,050 2,190 2,142 
Public relations, advertising and promotion 5,667 5,543 3,090 3,378 
Donations 16,911 16,276 1,000 2,401 
Bad debts (recoveries)/expenses (14,142) 6,088 476 4,234 
Depreciation 6,379 7,149 762 3,000 
Other 44,390 40,098 6,567 7,900 
 780,073 705,096 68,341 69,222 
 

8. Gain on Dilution of Shareholding in Associated Company 
          
 During 2009 an associated company, Sagicor Life Jamaica, issued ordinary shares to its employees through its ESOP scheme resulting in a 

gain on dilution of $11,119,000 recorded in capital reserves.  The issue had no material impact on the company’s holding in the associated 
company.  Consequent on a change to IAS 28, future gains and losses on dilution of investments in associated companies will be recorded in 
the income statement. 

 
9. Staff Costs 
 

 The Group  The Company 

 2010 2009 2010 2009 
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Wages and salaries 88,298 70,491 2,479 2,597 
Statutory contributions 7,707 6,544 621 630 
Pension – funded (Note 20(a)) 20,460 8,195 (6,448) (1,769) 
Pension – unfunded (Note 20(b)) 1,538 1,780 1,538 1,780 
Other post employment benefits (Note 20(c)) 8,437 8,971 976 1,010 
Stock compensation expense (Note 26) 5,641 9,199 1,036 1,689 
Other 16,707 14,512 7,627 5,887 

 148,788 119,692 7,829 11,824 

 
10. Taxation 

(a) Composition of tax charge 

  The taxation charge for the year is comprised of: 

 The Group  The Company 
 2010 2009  2010 2009 
 $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000 
  Current income tax at 33⅓% 154,796 174,077  - - 
  Deferred income taxes (Note 17) 21,548 5,810  - - 
 176,344 179,887  - - 
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10. Taxation (continued) 

 
Subject to agreement with the Taxpayer Audit and Assessment Department, some of the group subsidiaries have losses available for 
offset against future taxable profits amounting to approximately $31,000,000 (2009 - $35,000,000). 
 

 
(b) Reconciliation of applicable tax charges to effective tax charge/ (credit): 
 

 The Group  The Company 

 
2010 
$’000 

2009 
$’000 

2010 
$’000 

2009 
$’000 

Current income tax     
Profit before tax 1,823,666 2,115,020 315,667 243,036 

     
Tax at 33 ⅓% 607,889 705,006 105,222 81,012 

                 Adjusted for the effects of:     
Income not subject to tax (93,431) (158,531) (112,734) (81,449)
Share of associates’ profit included net of tax (390,826) (374,911) - - 
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 29,227 8,382 9,452 2,223 
Other charges and credits 23,485 (59) (1,940) (1,786)

Income tax expense 176,344 179,887 - - 
 

Income not subject to tax consists principally of property revaluation gains for the group and dividend income for the company. 
 
 

(c) Tax charge/ (credit) relating to components of other comprehensive income/(loss) is as follows: 
 

 The Group The Company 

At 31 December 2010 

Before 
tax

$’000 

Tax 
(charge)/

credit
$’000

After 
tax 

$’000 

Before  
tax 

$’000 

Tax 
(charge)/

credit
$’000

After 
tax 

$’000 
Exchange differences on translating foreign 

operations (4,760) - (4,760) - - - 
Fair value gains/(losses) on available-for-sale 

financial assets 120,775 (9,268) 111,507 35,814 - 35,814 
Share of other comprehensive income of 

associated company 556,132 - 556,132 - - - 

Other comprehensive income/(loss) 672,147 (9,268) 662,879 35,814 - 35,814 

     
Current income tax  -   -  
Deferred income tax (Note 17)  (9,268)   -  

  (9,268)   -  
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10. Taxation (Continued) 
 

(c) Tax charge/ (credit) relating to components of other comprehensive income is as follows (continued): 
 
 The Group The Company 

At 31 December 2009 

Before  
tax 

$’000 

 Tax 
(charge)/ 

credit 
$’000 

After 
tax 

$’000 

Before  
tax 

$’000 

Tax 
(charge)/

credit
$’000

After 
tax 

$’000 
Exchange differences on translating foreign 

operations 9,579 - 9,579 - - - 
Fair value gains/(losses) on available-for-sale 

financial assets 68,137 (3,927) 64,210 (16,572) - (16,572) 
Gain on dilution of shareholding in associated 

company  11,119 - 11,119 - - - 
Share of other comprehensive income of 

associated company 371,633 - 371,633 - - - 

Other comprehensive income/(loss) 460,468 (3,927) 456,541 (16,572) - (16,572) 
      

Current income tax  -   -  
Deferred income tax (Note 17)  (3,927)   -  

  (3,927)   -  

 
11.   Earnings Per Stock Unit/Net Profit and Retained Earnings  
 
 The calculation of basic earnings per stock unit (EPS) is based on the net profit attributable to equity holders of the group and the weighted 

average number of stock units in issue during the year, excluding ordinary stock units purchased by the group and held as treasury stock. 
 
 For fully diluted EPS, the weighted average number of stock units in issue is adjusted to assume conversion of all potentially dilutive ordinary 

stock units.  The net profit is also adjusted to reflect the after tax effect of income arising from the conversion of such potential ordinary stock 
units. At the end of the financial year, there were no potentially dilutive ordinary shares 

 2010 2009

Net profit attributable to stockholders ($’000) 1,244,498 1,395,677
Weighted average number of stock units in issue (thousands) 171,299 171,299
Basic and fully diluted earnings per stock unit ($) $7.27 $8.15

 
The net profit and retained earnings of the group are reflected in the records of the company, its subsidiaries and associated companies as 
follows: 

  2010  2009 
  $'000   $'000  

Net Profit    
  The company  315,667 243,036 
       Associated companies  775,449 600,773 
  Subsidiaries  556,206 1,091,324 
  1,647,322 1,935,133 

    
Retained Earnings    

  The company  227,447 161,671 

  Associated companies  3,285,311 2,451,888 
  Subsidiaries  1,761,661 1,912,351 
  5,274,449 4,525,910 

  
 Net profit and retained earnings attributable to associated companies and subsidiaries are shown net of dividends. 
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12. Cash and Cash Equivalents  
 
 For the purposes of the consolidated and company statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise the following balances 

with original maturity dates not exceeding 90 days. 
 
 The Group The Company

2010 2009 2010 2009
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

  Cash and bank balances 25,947 18,784  4,731 1,879
Short term deposits 13,252 119,417  - -
Securities purchased under agreements  

to resell (Note 14) 909,558  829,048  36,179  3,371

 948,757 967,249  40,910 5,250
Bank overdrafts (101) (2,610)  (101) -
 948,656 964,639  40,809 5,250

 
 Security for the bank overdrafts includes certain specific securities and an unlimited guarantee by the company. The effective interest rate 

on the overdraft facility was 18% (2009 – 21.17%).  Deposits in total for the group amounted to $32,139,000 (2009 - $122,144,000) for the 
group $17,068,000 (2009 – nil) for the company of which $13,252,000 (2009 - $119,417,000) for the group and nil (2009 – nil) for the 
company had original terms to maturity not exceeding 90 days for the group and the company respectively.   Securities purchased under 
agreements to resell for the group amounted to $1,093,979,000 of which $184,421,000 has been hypothecated as guarantee against a loan 
and does not form a part of cash and cash equivalents. 

 
13. Investment Securities 

 The Group  The Company 

 
2010
$’000  

2009 
$’000  

2010 
$’000  

2009
$’000

        

Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss:      

Debt securities 6,244  -  -  -

Equity securities-quoted 152,658  126,404  -  -

 158,902  126,404  -  -

Available-for-sale:    
 Debt securities -   

  Government of Jamaica 821,038  852,074  256,515  233,391

Corporate 363,975  369,678  -  -

 Equity securities - quoted 650,737  566,241  4,228  4,216

 1,835,750  1,787,993  260,743  237,607

 Loans and receivables - 12,117  12,272                 3,840  3,995

 
All of the group’s financial assets at fair value through profit and loss are held for trading. Included in the available-for-sale securities above 
is interest receivable amounting to $21,938,000 and $6,719,000 (2009 - $27,219,000 and $7,012,000) for the group and the company 
respectively. 

 
 Certain of the group’s corporate bonds were impaired as at 31 December.  Impairment charges of $24,322,000 (2009 - $9,441,000) have            
been recorded in the income statement. 

 
 Included in the group’s investments for 2009 were investments with a par value US$3,500,000 which had been pledged as collateral for loans 

granted to the group (Note 22). 
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14. Securities Purchased under Agreements to Resell 
  
 The group has entered into collateralised reverse repurchase agreements (securities purchased under agreements to resell), which may 

result in credit exposure in the event that the counterparty to the transaction is unable to fulfill its contractual obligations.   
 

Securities purchased under agreements to resell, totaling $909,558,000 and $36,179,00 (2009 - $829,048,000 and $3,371,000), for the 
group and company, respectively, are regarded as cash and cash equivalents for the purposes of the consolidated and company 
statements of cash flows. Included in securities purchased under agreements to resell is an amount of $184,421,000 which has been 
hypothecated as part of a guarantee against for a loan with a lending institution (Note 12). 
 

 
15. Investment Properties 
 The Group  The Company 
 2010 2009  2010 2009 
 $’000 $’000  $’000 $’000 
 At 1 January 3,584,578 3,274,823  - - 
 Acquired during the year 3,833 2,420  - - 

 Transferred from capital work-in-progress (Note 19) 2,740 2,468  - - 
                Disposal  (2,813) -  - - 
 Fair value gains (Note 6) 300,352 304,867  - - 

 At 31 December 3,888,690 3,584,578  - - 

 
 Property income and direct expenses including repairs and maintenance in relation to investment properties are as follows: 

  
  The Group The Company 
  2010  2009  2010 2009 
  $’000  $’000  $’000 $’000 

Rental income (Note 6) 948,707  869,579  - - 

Direct costs (Note 7) (442,778)  (401,201)  - - 

 
The properties were valued at current market value as at 31 December by D.C. Tavares & Finson Realty Limited, independent qualified 
property appraisers and valuators. 

 
 
 
16. Investment in Subsidiaries and Associated Companies 
    
 The Group  The Company 

 2010  2009  2010 2009 
                   $’000  $’000  $’000 $’000  

 Subsidiary companies -       
  Balance at 1 January -  -  96,177  67,671 

Acquired during the year -  -  1,065,556 28,506 
Balance at 31 December -  -  1,161,733 96,177 
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16.      Investment in Subsidiaries and Associated Companies (continued) 
 

Associated companies -      

Sagicor Life Jamaica Limited      
  Shareholding at cost 3,580,288 3,493,066  - - 
  Share of profit 5,170,745 4,023,778   - - 
  Dividends received (1,968,918) (1,571,890)  - - 
  Share of reserves 328,655 (227,477)  - - 

Gain on dilution of holding 38,936 38,936  - - 
 7,149,706 5,756,413  - - 

      

Hardware and Lumber Limited      
 Shareholding at cost 22,296 22,296  22,296 22,296 
 Share of losses (22,779) (31,789)  - - 
 Dividends received (5,389) (5,389)  - - 
         Impairment loss  (85,071) (85,071)  - - 

 Share of capital reserves 155,684 155,684  - - 
 64,741 55,731  22,296 22,296 

      
New Castle Company Limited      

        Shareholding at cost 177,523 177,523  177,523 177,523

        Share of profit 31,652 15,152  - - 
 209,175 192,675  177,523 177,523

      

Impan Properties Limited      

Shareholding at cost 20 20  - - 

Share of profit 58 58  - - 

Share of capital reserve 7,945 7,945  - - 

Current account (8,888) (8,888)  - - 
 (865) (865)  - - 

 7,422,757 6,003,954  199,819 199,819 
 Comprising: 

 Share of net assets 6,518,505 5,105,338 -  -
 Goodwill 904,252 898,616 -  -

 7,422,757 6,003,954 -  -

 
Acquisition of Investment in Subsidiaries and Associated Companies 
 
(a) During the year, the company acquired an additional 29,387,019 (2009 – 1,081,300) shares in its subsidiary, First Jamaica 

Investments Limited, for a purchase consideration of $1,072,460,000 (2009- $28,506,000). On consolidation, the group acquired 
$1,193,990,000 (2009 - $38,933,000) of non-controlling interest.  Consequently, the group recorded an increase in reserves 
(recorded in the statement of changes in equity) of $121,530,000 in 2010 and, in 2009, a gain (recorded in the income statement) of 
$10,427,000. The difference in the accounting treatment in 2009 and 2010 results from a change in IAS 27, which become effective 
in 2010.  The change in IAS 27 is applied prospectively. 

  
(b) During the year the company, through its subsidiary, First Jamaica Investments Limited, acquired an additional 12,766,745 (2009 – 

Nil) stock units of its associated company, Sagicor Life Jamaica Limited for a purchase consideration of $87,222,000 (2009 – Nil). 
 
(b) In the 2009 the company, subscribed for 25% of the share capital of New Castle Company Limited Through its ownership of New 

Castle, the company owns a 25% stake in the operations of the Walkerswood Group of Companies, Associated Manufacturers 
Limited and Parang Limited producers of specialty foods and cosmetics. 
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16.     Investment in Subsidiaries and Associated Companies (Continued) 

 
The assets, liabilities, revenue and net profit or (loss) of the associates as at and for the years ended 31 December 2010 and 2009 are as 
follows: 
 

 
Assets 

$’000 
Liabilities 

$’000 

Non-controlling
interest

$’000
Revenue

$’000
Net Profit/(loss)

$’000 
2010     
Sagicor Life Jamaica Limited 143,158,853 116,426,917 1,528,892 25,657,022 4,671,171 
Hardware and Lumber Limited 2,983,529 2,032,028 - 5,728,987 19,341 
New Castle Company Limited 787,696 317,041 - 673,142 66,000 
Impan Properties Limited 44,126 4,032 - - - 

 146,974,204 118,780,018 1,528,892 32,059,151 4,756,512 

2009   
Sagicor Life Jamaica Limited 135,466,417 114,134,447 1,469,261 27,872,526 4,390,112 
Hardware and Lumber Limited 2,963,963 2,084,129 - 5,940,599 (249,675)
New Castle Company Limited 461,000 146,778 - 418,026 60,607 
Impan Properties Limited 44,126 4,032 - - - 

 138,935,506 116,369,386 1,469,261 34,231,151 4,201,044 
 

In the prior financial year, Sagicor Life of Jamaica Limited (Sagicor) early adopted IFRS 3/IAS 27 Revised.  These standards were 
not early adopted by the group.  As a consequence of Sagicor’s early adoption of the standards, certain gains which were realised 
on the acquisition of non-controlling interests of a subsidiary were recorded equity in Sagicor’s financial statements.  Due to the 
fact that the group did not early adopt the aforementioned standards, the group’s share of these gains should be recorded in net 
profit in the books of the group.   
 
These gains were therefore added to Sagicor’s reported net profit for the purposes of determining the share of results of associated 
companies reported in the group’s financial statement as follows: 
 

    
  $’000 
Sagicor’s reported net profit (2009)  4,390,112 

Gains on acquisition of non-controlling interest, recycled to income 
statement to make accounting consistent with the accounting 
policies of the group  467,954 

Net profit used to determine share of associated company results in 2009  4,858,066 

   
 

 
      17.  Deferred Income Taxes 
 
 Deferred income taxes are calculated on all temporary differences under the liability method using an effective tax rate of 33 1/3% for both 2010 

and 2009. 
 
 Assets and liabilities recognised on the statement of financial position are as follows: 

 The Group  The Company 

 
2010 
$’000   

2009 
$’000  

 2010 
$’000  

2009 
$’000  

  Deferred tax assets 3,903  10,396  1,240  1,240 

  Deferred tax liabilities (128,822)  (104,499)  -  - 
  Net (liability)/asset (124,919)  (94,103)  1,240  1,240 

 
 



Notes to the Financial Statements
31 December 2010

(expressed in Jamaican Dollars unless otherwise indicated)

55ANNUAL REPORT
2 0 1 0

P a n - J a m a i c a n  I n v e s t m e n t  T r u s t  L i m i t e d Page 36 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

       17.  Deferred Income Taxes (continued) 
 

 
 The gross movement on the deferred income tax balance is as follows: 

 The Group  The Company 

 
2010 
$’000  

2009 
$’000  

 2010 
$’000  

2009 
$’000  

  Balance at 1 January (94,103) (84,366)  1,240     
1,240 

Tax charged to income statement (Note 10) (21,548) (5,810)  - - 
Tax charged to components of comprehensive income (Note 10)  (9,268) (3,927)  - - 

  Balance at 31 December (124,919) (94,103)  1,240 1,240 

 
 

The movement in deferred income tax assets and liabilities during the year is as follows: 
 

 The Group  

 

Pension and 
other post 

employment 
benefits

$’000 

Investment 
securities

$’000

Interest 
payable

$’000

Stock 
compensation 

provision
$’000

Unutilised 
tax losses 

$’000 
Other 
$’000 

Total 
$’000 

Deferred income tax assets     

At 1 January 2009 11,010 26,674 17,915 10,775 2,758 3,517 72,649 

Credited/(charged) to the income 
statement 1,653 (11,633)       (1) 2,503 331 (983) (8,130) 

Credited to other comprehensive 
  income - (3,927) - - - - (3,927) 
At 31 December 2009 12,663 11,114 17,914 13,278 3,089 2,534 60,592 
Credited/(charged) to the income 

statement 1,296 (6,254)            (15,384) 1,535 260 3,001 (15,546) 
     Charged to other comprehensive  
           income - (9,268) - - - - (9,268) 

 At 31 December 2010 13,959 (4,408)              2,530 14,813 3,349 5,535 35,778 
 

 The Group  

 

Property, 
plant and 

equipment
$’000 

Pension 
benefits

$’000

Investment 
property

$’000

Interest 
receivable

$’000

Unrealised 
foreign 

exchange 
$’000 

Other 
$’000 

Total 
$’000 

Deferred income tax liabilities    
At 1 January 2009 81        13,143 101,303 29,361 12,615 512 157,015 

(Credited)/charged to the income 
statement -

  
(10,619) 7,889 4,968 (4,530) (8) (2,320) 

At 31 December 2009 81          2,524 109,172 34,329 8,085 504 154,695 

Charged/(credited) to the income 
statement - (1,702) 7,958 (25,046) 24,792 - 6,002 

At 31 December 2010 81             822 117,130           9,283 32,877 504 160,697 
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17. Deferred Income Taxes (Continued) 
 

The movement in deferred income tax assets and liabilities during the year is as follows: 
 

  The Company 

  

Pension and 
other post 
retirement 

benefits
$’000

Net lease 
obligation 

$’000 

Stock 
compensation 

provision
$’000

Total 
$’000 

Deferred income tax assets     
At 1 January 2009  4,486 626 1,309 6,421 
At 31 December 2009  4,486 626 1,309 6,421 
At 31 December 2010 4,486 626 1,309 6,421

 

 The Company 

 

Property, 
plant and 

equipment 
$’000 

Pension 
benefits

$’000

Interest 
receivable 

$’000 

Unrealised 
foreign 

exchange
$’000

Total 
$’000 

Deferred income tax liabilities    
At 1 January 2009 81 822 503 3,775 5,181 

At 31 December 2009 81 822 503 3,775 5,181 

At 31 December 2010 81 822 503 3,775 5,181
 
 Deferred income tax liabilities have not been established for the potential distribution of the unappropriated profits of subsidiaries as such 

distributions are not subject to tax. 
 

 
The amounts shown in the statement of financial position include the following: 

 The Group  The Company 

 
2010
$’000 

2009 
$’000  

2010 
$’000 

2009 
$’000 

 Deferred tax assets to be recovered after more than 12 months 30,813 29,659 4,486 4,486 

 Deferred tax assets to be recovered within 12 months 4,965 30,933 1,935 1,935 

 35,778 60,592 6,421 6,421 
    
 Deferred tax liabilities to be settled after more than 12 months 122,998 120,341 903 903 

 Deferred tax liabilities to be settled within 12 months 37,699 34,354 4,278 4,278 
 160,697 154,695 5,181 5,181 
 Net (liability)/asset (124,919) (94,103) 1,240 1,240 
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18. Prepayment and Miscellaneous Assets 

 The Group  The Company 

 
2010
$’000

2009 
$’000 

  2010
$’000

2009
$’000

                  Trade receivables 18,639 30,557 - -
         Inventories 2,371 2,341 - -
         Managed properties fees receivable 27,081 32,940 - -
                  Prepaid expenses 34,614 32,387 - -
         Other receivables 56,617 62,545 594 3,916
                  Deposits 190,217 23,887 - -
                  Land awaiting development 42,168 42,162 - -
 371,707 226,819 594 3,916

  
19. Property, Plant and Equipment 
 The Group 

  
Freehold 
Premises 

Leasehold 
Improvements 

Furniture, 
Fixtures & 
Equipment 

Assets 
Capitalised 

under 
Finance  
Leases 

 Motor 
Vehicles 

Capital
Work in

Progress Total 
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
 At Cost -    

  1 January 2009 65,964 14,325 28,455 14,324 11,483 13,850 148,401 

  Additions - - 1,890 - 6,838 5,024 13,752 

  Disposals - - - - - (1,796) (1,796)

Transfers - - - - - (2,468) (2,468)

  31 December 2009 65,964 14,325 30,345 14,324 18,321 14,610 157,889 

  Additions - - 3,569 10,085 31,262 89,605 134,521 

  Disposals - - - (6,498) (4,469) (437) (11,404)

  Transfers - - 7,282 - - (10,022) (2,740)
  31 December 2010 65,964 14,325 41,196 17,911 45,114 93,756 278,266 

 Accumulated  Depreciation       
  1 January 2009 4,525 9,711 19,635 4,874 11,483 - 50,228 

Charge for year 1,371 - 485 2,865 2,428 - 7,149 

  31 December 2009 5,896 9,711 20,120 7,739 13,911 - 57,377 

Charge for year 1,481 600 3,121 1,177 6,379 

Relieved on  
disposal - - - (6,498) (4,432) - (10,930)

  31 December 2010 7,377 9,711 20,720 4,362 10,656 - 52,826 

 Net Book Value -      
  31 December 2010 58,587 4,614 20,476 13,549 34,458 93,756 225,440 

  31 December 2009 60,068 4,614 10,225 6,585 4,410 14,610 100,512 



Notes to the Financial Statements
31 December 2010

(expressed in Jamaican Dollars unless otherwise indicated)

58 ANNUAL REPORT
2 0 1 0

P a n - J a m a i c a n  I n v e s t m e n t  T r u s t  L i m i t e d

 Page 39 

 

19. Property, Plant and Equipment (Continued) 
   
 The Company 

   
Leasehold

Improvements
 Furniture & 

Fixtures 

Assets 
Capitalised 

under 
Finance   
Leases 

Motor 
Vehicles Total

 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

  At Cost -     
  1 January 2009 199 4,121 14,324 957 19,601
            Additions - 1,122 - - 1,122
  31 December 2009 199 5,243 14,324 957 20,723
            Additions - 897 - 16,860 17,757
           Disposal - - (6,498) - (6,498)
  31 December 2010 199 6,140 7,826 17,817 31,982
 Accumulated Depreciation -    
  1 January 2009 199 3,156 9,914 957 14,226
  Charge for the year - 135 2,865 - 3,000
  31 December 2009 199 3,291 12,779 957 17,226
  Charge for the year - 247 515 - 762
              Relieved on disposal - - (6,498) - (6,498)
  31 December 2010 199 3,538 6,796 957 11,490

 Net Book Value -    
31 December 2010 - 2,602 1,030 16,860 20,492

  31 December 2009 - 1,952 1,545 - 3,497

 
 
20. Retirement Benefits 
 
 The company and its subsidiaries have established a number of pension schemes covering all permanent employees.  The assets of funded 

plans are held independently of the group’s assets in separate funds administered by the company.  Defined benefit plans are valued by 
independent actuaries annually, using the projected unit credit method. 

 
 The latest actuarial valuations were carried out as at 31 December 2010. 
 
 The amounts recognised in the statement of financial position comprise: 

 The Group The Company 

 
2010 
$’000 

2009 
$’000 

2010 
$’000 

2009 
$’000 

  Assets     

Funded pension obligations  
 (Note 20(a)) 31,708 42,088 13,026 5,354 

Liabilities     

Unfunded pension obligations  
 (Note 20(b)) 13,579 13,656 13,579 13,656 

  Other (Note 20(c)) 62,071 56,267 6,643 6,111 

 75,650 69,923 20,222 19,767 
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20.     Retirement Benefits (continued) 
 

The expense/(income) recognised in the income statement comprise: 

 The Group The Company 

 
2010 
$’000 

2009 
$’000 

2010 
$’000 

2009 
$’000 

  Pension obligations - funded (Note 20(a)) 20,460 8,195 (6,448) (1,769)
Pension obligations – unfunded (Note 20(b)) 1,599 1,780 1,599 1,780 

                  Recognised actuarial gain (61) - (61) - 
  Other post-employment obligations:      
   Medical and life insurance (Note 20(c)) 8,437 8,971 976 1,010 

 30,435 18,946 (3,934) 1,021 

 
(a) Funded pension obligations 
 

 The amounts recognised in the statement of financial position are determined as follows:  
 The Group The Company 

 
2010 
$’000  

2009 
$’000  

2010 
$’000 

2009 
$’000 

   Present value of funded obligations 247,387 151,621 23,923 15,164 

   Fair value of plan assets (444,760) (381,519) (182,760) (154,800)

  (197,373) (229,898) (158,837) (139,636)

   Unrecognised actuarial losses (99,237) (46,114) (16,471) (22,092)

   Unrecognised asset due to restriction in IAS 19, 
Paragraph 58 264,902 233,924 162,282 156,374 

 Asset in the statement of financial   position (31,708) (42,088) (13,026) (5,354)

 
 
 Sagicor Life Jamaica Limited, an associated company which manages the group’s pension fund assets in a pooled pension fund, has 

invested in ordinary stock units of the company and a subsidiary of the group with a fair value of $1,139,438,000 and $62,000 respectively 
(2009 – $396,189,000 and $408,240,000). 

 
The movement in the defined benefit obligation over the year is as follows: 

 
 The Group The Company 

 
2010 
$’000  

2009 
$’000  

2010 
$’000  

2009 
$’000  

Beginning of year 151,621 125,800 15,164 13,023 

   Current service cost 4,833 3,491 559 307 

   Interest cost 21,282 18,405 1,786 1,878 

Contributions by plan participants 8,146 6,065 1,036 409 

   Actuarial losses 80,833 4,280 11,273 584 

   Benefits paid (19,328)) (6,420) (5,895) (1,037) 

   End of year 247,387 151,621 23,923 15,164 
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20. Retirement Benefit (Continued) 
 
       (a)  Funded pension obligations (continued) 
 
 The movement in the fair value of plan assets over the year is as follows:  

 The Group The Company 

 
2010 
$’000  

2009 
$’000  

2010 
$’000  

2009 
$’000  

Beginning of year 381,519 321,243 154,800 133,442 

Expected return on plan assets 38,099 45,404 15,303 18,679
Actuarial gains 26,245 7,567 16,293 2,719
Employer contributions 10,079 7,660 1,223 588
Employee contributions 8,146 6,065 1,036 409
Benefits paid (19,328) (6,420) (5,895) (1,037) 

End of year 444,760 381,519 182,760 154,800 

  
 

The amounts recognised in the income statement are as follows: 

 The Group The Company 

 
2010 
$’000  

2009 
$’000  

2010 
$’000  

2009 
$’000  

   Current service cost 4,833 3,491 559 307 

   Interest cost 21,282 18,405 1,786 1,878 

   Expected return on plan assets (38,098) (45,404) (15,302) (18,679) 

   Net actuarial gains recognised in year 1,465 1,317 601 989 

   Change in unrecognised asset 30,978 30,386 5,908 13,736 

   Total 20,460 8,195 (6,448) (1,769) 

 
  The actual return on plan assets for 2010 was a gain of $72,141,000 and $34,530,000 (2009 – gain of $59,089,000 and $23,376,000)) for 

the group and the company, respectively. 
 

 The principal actuarial assumptions used were as follows: 
 The Group  The Company 

 
2010 

%  
2009 

%  
 2010 

%  
2009 

% 
   Discount rate 11.0  16.0  11.0 16.0 
   Expected return on plan assets 8.2 10.0  8.0 10.0 
   Future salary increases 8.3 12.0  7.0 12.0 

 Future pension increases 3.5 4.3  4.0 4.5 
 
(b) Unfunded Pension Obligations 

 
       The amounts recognised in the statement of financial position are determined as follows: 

 The Group and Company 

 
2010 
$’000  

2009 
$’000  

Present value of unfunded obligations 13,579 13,656 
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20. Retirement Benefits (Continued) 

 
(b) Unfunded Pension Obligations (continued) 

 
 
               The movement in the liability recognised in the statement of financial position is as follows: 

 The Group and Company 

 
2010 
$’000  

2009 
$’000  

Beginning of year 13,656 13,491 

Expense 1,599 1,780 

                           Recognised actuarial gain (61) - 

           Contributions paid (1,615) (1,615)

   End of year 13,579 13,656 

 
 (c) Other post-employment obligations 
 
   In addition to pension benefits, the company and certain subsidiaries offer retirees medical and life insurance benefits that contribute to the 

health care and life insurance coverage of employees and beneficiaries after retirement.  The method of accounting and frequency of 
valuations are similar to those used for defined benefit pension schemes. 

 
   The main actuarial assumption is a long-term increase in health costs of 10% per year (2009 – 13.67%). 
 

Other assumptions were as for the pension plans set out above. 
 

 The amounts recognised in the statement of financial position are determined as follows: 

 The Group The Company 

 
2010 
$’000  

2009
$’000 

2010 
$’000  

2009 
$’000 

   Present value of unfunded obligations 66,855 44,660 9,489 5,665 

                   Unrecognised actuarial (losses)/gains (4,784) 11,607 (2,846) 446 

 Liability in the statement of financial position 62,071 56,267 6,643 6,111 

 
 The movement in the defined benefit obligation over the year is as follows: 
 

 The Group The Company 

 
2010 
$’000  

2009 
$’000  

2010 
$’000  

2009 
$’000  

Beginning of year 44,660 45,142 5,665 5,737 

Current service cost 1,837 1,962 104 120 

Interest cost 6,942 7,171 872 890 

Benefits paid (2,633) (2,137) (444) (366) 

Actuarial gains/(losses) 16,049 (7,478) 3,292 (716) 

End of year 66,855 44,660 9,489 5,665 
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20. Retirement Benefit (Continued) 
 
(c) Other post-employment obligations (continued) 
 
The expense recognised in the income statement is as follows: 

 

 The Group 
 

The Company 

 
2010
$’000 

2009 
$’000  

2010 
$’000  

2009 
$’000  

Current service cost 1,837 1,962 104 

Interest cost 6,942 7,171 872 890
  Net actuarial gains recognised 

   during the year (342) (162) - - 

  Total, included in staff costs (Note 9) 8,437 8,971 976 1,010 

 
 

 The effects of a 1% movement in the assumed medical cost trend rate were as follows: 
 Increase Decrease

Effect on the aggregate of the current service cost and interest cost 8,902 6,911

Effect on the defined benefit obligation 66,689 50,220
 

Plan assets for the post-employment benefits are comprised as follows: 

 The Group 
 2010  2009 

 $’000 % $’000 % 

Equity 29,737 7 35,836 9 

Debt 370,015 83 305,062 80 

Other 45,008 10 40,621 11 

 444,760 100 381,519 100 

 
 

 The Company 
 2010  2009 

 $’000 % $’000 % 

Equity 9,246 5 12,483 8 

Debt 147,018 80 120,079 78 

Other 26,496 14 22,238 14 

 182,760 100 154,800 100 
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20. Retirement Benefit (Continued) 
 

(c) Other post-employment obligations (continued) 
 
Movement in the defined benefit obligation for the post-employment benefits (pension and medical) is as follows: 

 The Group 
 2010 2009 2008 2007 
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Present value of defined obligation-funded 247,387 151,621 125,800 122,061
Fair value of plan assets (444,760) (381,519) (321,243) (353,669) 

 (197,373) (229,898) (195,443) (231,608) 

Present value of defined obligations -unfunded 81,874 56,465 57,787 59,530

Experience adjustments on plan liabilities-funded 80,833 4,280 10,315 (13,669) 

Experience adjustments on plan liabilities-unfunded 19,279 (8,483) (7,484) 5,862 

Experience adjustments on plan assets (26,245) (7,567) 52,470 6,051 

 
Movement in the defined benefit obligation for the post-employment benefits (pension and medical) is as follows (continued): 

 

 The Company 

 2010 2009 2008 2007 
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Present value of defined obligation-funded 23,923 15,164 13,023 16,278 

Fair value of plan assets (182,760) (154,800) (133,442) (158,568) 

 (158,837) (139,636) (120,419) (142,290) 

Present value of defined obligations -unfunded 24,508 17,470 18,382 19,903

Experience adjustments on plan liabilities-funded 11,273 584 13,151 (795) 

Experience adjustments on plan liabilities-unfunded 6,522 (1,721) (2,067) 287 

Experience adjustments on plan assets (16,293) (2,719) 25,320 2,936 
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21. Related Party Balances and Transactions 
 

(a) The statements of financial position include the following balances with related parties and companies: 
 

 The Group  The Company 
 2010 2009  2010 2009 
 $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000  
  Amounts due from related parties:        
                Subsidiaries:      
   Busha Browne’s Company Limited - -  76,794 82,077 
   Portfolio Partners Limited - -  - 575 
   Jamaica Floral Exports Limited - -  90,508 90,467 

Pan-Jamaican Mortgage Society Limited - -  396 392 
Jamaica Property Company Limited - -  4,578 - 

   Scott’s Preserves Limited - -  - 8,050 

 - -  172,276 181,561 

  Amounts due to related parties:      
       Subsidiaries:      

   First Jamaica Investments Limited - -  144,216 178,398 
   Jamaica Property Company Limited - -  - 3,291 

        Scott’s Preserves Limited - -  3,259 - 
        Panacea Holding Limited - -  15,302 - 
Associated companies -      
 Sagicor Life Jamaica Limited 5,225 5,225  - - 

 5,225 5,225  162,777 181,689 

Net (liability)/asset 5,225 5,225  9,499 (128) 

  
 (b) The consolidated and company income statements includes the following transactions with related parties: 
 
 The Group  The Company 
 2010 2009  2010 2009 
 $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000  

  Subsidiaries -      

Management fees paid - -  25,123 22,320 

Interest paid  - -  14,372 5,998 

Dividends received - -  382,680 243,640 

 Associated companies -      

Dividends received 397,028 523,960  - - 

 Other related parties -      

Rental income 76,825 68,203  - - 

Interest and other income earned 45,685 42,866  643 - 

Interest and other expenses paid (22,031) (24,202)  (17,420) - 
Other expenses (10,848) (2,576)  (5,933) - 
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21. Related Party Balances and Transactions 
 

(c) Key management compensation: 
 The Group  The Company 
 2010 2009  2010 2009 
 $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000  

Salaries and other short-term employee 
 benefits 51,925 45,374  4,144 4,332 

Statutory contributions 4,383 4,011  268 382 
Post-employment benefits (8,313) 1,426  919 370 
Share-based compensation 5,641 9,199  1,036 1,689 

 53,636 60,010  6,367 6,773 
 Directors emoluments      

 Fees 10,624 5,894  5,873 3,652 
 Other 11,170 10,129  11,170 10,129 
 Management compensation 

    (included above) 15,901 15,818  4,144 4,332 

 37,695 31,841  21,187 18,113 

 
 (d) Loans from related parties 
 The Group  The Company 
 2010 2009 2010 2009 
 $’000  $’000 $’000 $’000  

Total loans from related parties     
Balance at beginning of year 160,707 384,508 - - 
Loans advanced during year 1,067,203 53,653 1,067,203 - 
Loans repayments received (155,334) (321,195) - - 
Interest charged 22,031 24,202 17,420 - 
Interest paid (25,120) (23,066) (15,506) - 
Foreign exchange loss 5,693 42,605 6,063 - 

 1,075,180 160,707 1,075,180 - 

 
(d) Loan Guarantee 

Loan guarantees - Jamaica Property Company Limited (JPCo.), a subsidiary of the company, has issued a guarantee in the amount of 
US$2,161,000 (J$184,421,000) for a loan owed by the company.  As part of the guarantee, JPCo., has hypothecated certain deposit 
balances it holds with a lending institution. 
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22. Loan Liabilities 
    The Group 
 Currency Rate Repayable  2010 2009

 %   $’000 $’000
Secured -    
(i)   First Caribbean International Bank 

 Limited J$ 15.1  2011  62,161 66,842 
(ii)  Pan Caribbean Financial Services 

 Limited US$ 10.00  2010  - 66,792 
        (iii) Pan Caribbean Bank Limited US$ 10.00  2010  - 89,133 
        (iv) International Finance Corporation US$ 6.59  2019  426,704  
        (v) Pan Caribbean Financial Services Limited US$ 7.5  2011  386,376 - 
        (vi) Pan Caribbean Financial Services Limited US$ 7.5  2011  686,890 - 
      
 Unsecured -      

(vii) JN Properties Limited J$ Variable No fixed date  13,586 13,586 

   1,575,717 236,353 
Interest payable        15,787 5,571 

   1,591,504 241,924 

 
The First Caribbean International Bank Limited loan has a repayment schedule that would result in repayment by 2017. The terms of the 
loan agreement however allow the bank the option to call the loan at any time. 
 

 
   The Company 
 Currency Rate Repayable  2010 2009
 %   $’000 $’000

Secured -     
        (v) Pan Caribbean Financial Services Limited US$ 7.5  2011  386,376 - 
        (vi) Pan Caribbean Financial Services Limited US$ 7.5  2011  686,890 - 

          1,073,266 - 
              Interest payable                  1,914 - 

         1,075,180 - 

 
 
 (i) This loan was issued by FirstCaribbean International Bank Limited (FCIB) to assist with the extension of the multi-storey parking 

garage, construction of a well and other building upgrades.  Interest rate on this loan is computed as FCIB’s base rate less 1.75%. 
The loan is secured by a first mortgage over commercial lots 195 – 198 (inclusive) Grenada Crescent, New Kingston. The loan is 
scheduled to be repaid by 2017, but is repayable on demand, should such a request be made by the bank. At 31 December 2010, 
the group was in breach of certain covenants attached to this loan. 

 
(ii) This balance represented a US$750,000 loan issued by Pan Caribbean Financial Services Limited. Interest was charged at a rate of  
          10.0% per annum. The loan was secured by a corporate bond with face value of US$1,500,000.  The loan was repaid in 2010. 
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22. Loan Liabilities (continued) 
 
         (iii)   The balance was made up of two loans issued by Pan Caribbean Bank Limited in the amount of US$858,000 and US$142,000.  

Interest was charged at a rate of 10% per annum on both loans.  The loans were secured by corporate bonds with face values of 
US$1,716,000 and US$284,000 respectively.  The loans were repaid in 2010. 

 
         (iv) This balance represents the first drawdown on the US$17,500,000.00 loan facility from International Finance Corporation (IFC), in 

the amount of US$5,000,000.00. Interest is charged at 6.59% per annum. The loan is secured by a first mortgage over the Jamaica 
Tourism Centre, Manor Park Plaza Phase 1, and the Scotia Centre properties. The loan is repayable over eight years, with the first of 
sixteen semi-annual instalments due January 2012. At 31 December 2010, the group was in breach of two covenants attached to 
this loan. Subsequent to the end of the financial year, management had entered into negotiations with the IFC and has designed a 
plan to remedy the breach. 

 
(v) This balance represents a US$4,500,000 loan issued by Pan Caribbean Financial Services Limited.  Interest is charged at rate of 

7.5% per annum.  The loan is secured by a charge over 9,600,000 stock units of First Jamaica Investments Limited and guarantee 
from JPCo, which guarantee is supported by hypothecated deposits.  The loan is repayable in 2011. 

 
         (vi) This balance represents a US$8,000,000 loan issued by Pan Caribbean Financial Services Limited.  Interest is charged at 7.5% per  
                    annum.  The loan is secured by charge over 38,000,000 stock units of First Jamaica Investments Limited and is repayable in the       
                    year 2011. 
 
        (vii) This represents a loan advanced by J.N. Properties Limited. The debt is unsecured, attracts interest at a variable rate and has no      
                    fixed repayment terms. 
 
 
23. Finance Lease Liability 

The finance lease obligations are as follows: 
 The Group  The Company 

 2010 2009  2010 2009
 $’000  $’000   $’000  $’000  

 Minimum lease payments under finance leases:     

  Not later than 1 year 3,259 3,239 211 1,269

  Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 10,677 320 - 184 

   13,936 3,559 211 1,453

 Future finance charges (4,092) (347) (31) (140)

 Present value of finance lease obligations 9,844 3,212 180 1,313 

 
 
The present value of the lease obligations is as follows: 

 The Group  The Company 

 2010 2009  2010 2009
 $’000  $’000   $’000  $’000  

  Not later than 1 year 1,807 2,898 180 1,132 

  Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 8,037 314 - 181

   9,844 3,212 180 1,313 
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24. Other Liabilities 
 The Group  The Company 
 2010 2009 2010  2009 
 $’000 $’000 $’000  $’000 
 Promissory note – managed funds 25,197 23,885 -  - 
 Other liabilities and accrued expenses 141,565 171,891 23,243  29,965 

Trade payables 34,976 18,725 -   - 
Accounts payable 17,945 18,627 17,945  18,627 

   219,683 233,128 41,188  48,592 

 
25. Share Capital 
  2010 2009

  No. No.

  ‘000 ‘000
 Authorised share capital of no par value -   

   Ordinary shares   200,000  200,000

     

  $’000  $’000

Issued and fully paid  - 173,535,078 stock units  185,354  185,354

 
 
 
26. Share Options/Equity Compensation Reserve 
 

In November 2006, the company established the 2006 Executive Share Option Scheme (“the option plan”). Under the terms of the option 
plan, 7.5% of the share capital of the company has been reserved for issue. Officers and other key employees of the company and its 
subsidiaries are eligible to receive options under the plan. The plan is administered by a committee of the Board of Directors of the 
company. The exercise price of the granted options is equal to the fair value of the company’s shares at the date of the grant of the option, 
or the date, on which the company has entered into a binding commitment to grant the options, whichever is the earlier. Shares issued 
when share options are exercised have the same rights as other issued common shares.  

 
As at 31 December 2010, options over 3,062,500 common shares had been granted at an exercise price of $45.00 to 2 executives, which 
vest in 5 annual equal amounts on the anniversary of the grant date. Vested options are exercisable for periods of time as determined by 
the committee of the Board, but in no event shall exceed 10 years from the date of grant. Options over 2,450,000 shares were vested and 
exercisable at 31 December 2010 (2009 – 1,837,500). 
 
The group and the company have recognised share-based compensation of $5,641,000 and $1,036,000 (2009 - $9,199,000 and 
$1,689,000) respectively.   
 
The company has used the Black-Scholes valuation model for determining the fair value of the share options.  The range of fair value of 
share options granted, determined using this model, was $9.31 to $23.35. 
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26. Share Options/Equity Compensation Reserve (continued) 
 

The significant inputs into the model were as follows: 
 

Share Options 
Grant dates  2006 
Share Price (range in $) 45.00 
Annual Risk Free Rate (%) 12.61 – 13.16 
Expected Volatility (%) 35.00 
Expected Dividend yield (%) 0.98 
 
The annual risk free rate used is based on Government of Jamaica Treasury Bills with terms equal to the expected life of the options. 

 
The expected volatility of the share price has been determined by reference to the historical volatility of comparable companies to Pan 
Jamaican Investment Trust Limited at each of the grant dates. 
 
The expected dividend yield has been determined by reference to the historical dividends paid by the company. 

 
 
27. Property Revaluation Reserve 
  

The balance represents the accumulated revaluation gains on investment properties attributable to owners of the parent, transferred from 
retained earnings. 
 

 
28. Investment and Other Reserves 

 
         These comprise: 

 The Group 
 

The Company 

 
2010 
$’000  

2009 
$’000  

2010 
$’000  

2009 
$’000 

  Fair value gains/(losses)/gains on                                  
                          investments 61,792 (40,454) 26,049 (9,765)

  Capital reserves 1,958,954 1,842,184 146,823 146,823 

Capital redemption reserves 2,176 2,176 - - 

Share of other comprehensive income of associated 
companies 865,686 404,115 - - 

 2,888,608 2,208,021 172,872 137,058 

Capital reserves     

Realised gain on sale of ESOP shares 9,010 9,010 - - 

Realised gain on sale of insurance operations 1,161,344 1,161,344 - - 

Realised gain on dilution of holding in subsidiaries 
and associates 433,516 433,516 - - 

Reserve arising on acquisition of                               
                                  additional shares in subsidiary 121,530 -   

Other 233,554 238,314 146,823 146,823 

 1,958,954 1,842,184 146,823 146,823 

 
Included in fair value losses on investments for the group is deferred tax charge of $4,763,000 (2009 – deferred tax credit $4,403,000) for 
unrealised gains/losses on investments. 
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29.    Dividends 

 2010  2009 

 $’000  $’000 
 First interim dividend for 2010 at $0.45 (includes special dividend of $0.10) 
             (2009 - $0.25, special dividend – nil) per stock unit – gross 78,091 43,384 
 Second interim dividend for 2010 at $0.35  (2009 - $0.30)  
  per stock unit – gross 60,738 52,061 
 Third interim dividend for 2010 at $0.32 (2009 - $0.30)  

per stock unit – gross 55,531 52,061 
Fourth interim dividend for 2010 at $0.32 (2009 - $0.51, includes special 
      dividend - $0.16) per stock unit - gross 55,531 88,502 

 249,891 236,008 

 Less: Dividends received on treasury stocks (3,214) (3,035)

 246,677 232,973 

 
30. Cash Flows from Operating Activities 
 

 The Group  The Company 
 2010 2009  2010 2009 
 $’000 $’000  $’000 $’000 

Net profit 1,647,322 1,935,133  315,667 243,036 
Adjustments to reconcile net profit to cash flows provided by 

operating activities:     
 Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 6,379 7,149  762 3,000 
 Stock compensation provision 5,641 9,199  1,036 1,689 
 Interest income (175,842) (224,458)  (25,111) (26,197) 
 Interest expense 61,683 51,058  40,332 6,036 
 Share of results of associated companies (1,172,477) (1,124,733)  - - 
         Gain on acquisition of shares in subsidiary - (10,427)  - - 
 Income tax expense 176,344 179,887  - - 
 Change in retirement benefit asset/obligation 16,107 7,534  (7,217) (1,548) 
 Losses/(gains) on sale of property, plant and equipment 207 1,796  (3,080) - 
 Fair value gains on investment properties (300,352) (304,867)  - - 
 Loss/(gains) on foreign currency  
  denominated investment 74,475 (198,933)  3,874 (25,431) 
 Unrealised (gain)/loss on foreign currency  
  denominated loans (12,596) 45,244  6,063 - 
          Impairment of investment assets 24,322 -  - - 
 Unrealised (gains)/losses on financial assets at               
                 fair value through profit and loss (14,911) (20,788)  - - 

 336,302 352,794  332,326 200,585 
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:     

                        Taxation recoverable 10,395 33,052  2,412 4,147 
 Other assets, net 20,113 73,398  3,315 808 
 Other liabilities, net (9,768) (56,459)  (6,175) (432) 

 357,042 402,785  331,878 205,108 
 Interest received 184,455 238,254  25,365 25,479 
 Income tax paid (192,054) (89,728)  - - 

 Net cash provided by operating activities 349,443 551,311  357,243 230,587 
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31.    Commitments   
 

Operating lease commitments – where the group/company is the lessor: 
   

The future aggregate minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows: 
 
 The Group  The Company 

 2010 2009  2010 2009
 $’000  $’000   $’000 $’000 
  Not later than 1 year 324,064 277,692 - -
  Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 480,905 497,247 - -
  Later than 5 years 50,574 37,019 - -

   855,543 811,958 - -

 
 
  
31. Financial Risk Management  
 

The group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including currency risk, fair value interest rate risk, cash flow interest 
rate risk and price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The group’s overall risk management programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial 
markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the group’s financial performance.  

 
Risk management is carried out by the Investment Committee, which identifies, evaluates and manages financial risks in close co-operation with 
the group’s operating business units. The Board of Directors sets guidelines for overall risk management including specific areas, such as 
foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk, credit risk, and investing excess liquidity. 

 
In February 2010, the group and company participated in the Jamaica Debt Exchange (JDX) transaction under which the group and company 
exchanged their holdings of domestic debt instruments issued by the Government of Jamaica for new, longer-dated debt instruments available 
under the election options contained in the agreement. The JDX transaction resulted in a reduction in yields and an increase in the tenor of 
locally issued Government of Jamaica securities and, therefore, had a significant impact on financial risks. 
 
(a) Market risk 

The group takes on exposure to market risks, which is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will 
fluctuate because of changes in market prices. Market risks mainly arise from changes in foreign currency exchange rates and 
interest rates. Market risk is monitored by the group treasury function which carries out extensive research and monitors the price 
movement of financial assets on the local and international markets.  Market risk exposures are measured using sensitivity analysis. 
 
There has been no change to the Group’s exposure to market risks or the manner in which it manages and measures the risk. 
 
(i) Currency risk 

Currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in 
foreign exchange rates. The group operates internationally and is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from various 
currency exposures, primarily with respect to the US dollar. Foreign exchange risk arises from transactions for purchases and 
recognised assets and liabilities. 

  
The group manages its foreign exchange risk by ensuring that the net exposure in foreign assets and liabilities is kept to an 
acceptable level by monitoring currency positions.  The group further manages this risk by maximizing foreign currency earnings 
and holding foreign currency balances. 
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32. Financial Risk Management  
 

Concentration of currency risk 
The table below summarises the currencies in which the group’s and company’s financial assets and liabilities are denominated 
at 31 December: 
 

 The Group 
 2010 
 Jamaican $ US$ Other Total

 J$’000 J$’000 J$’000 J$’000
Financial assets     
 Cash and bank balances 22,078 3,576 293 25,947

Deposits 1,819 30,318 2 32,139
Investment securities 430,120 1,421,696 154,953 2,006,769
Securities purchased under agreements to resell 363,672 730,307 - 1,093,979

      Trade and other receivables 100,504 112,390 - 212,894
Total financial assets 918,193 2,298,287 155,248 3,371,728
Financial liabilities    
 Bank overdraft 101 - - 101
      Due to related parties 5,225 - - 5,225
 Loan liabilities  76,403 1,515,101 - 1,591,504

Finance lease liability  9,844 - - 9,844
Other liabilities 175,187 44,496 - 219,683

Total financial liabilities 266,760 1,559,597 - 1,826,357

Net position 651,433 738,690 155,248 1,545,371
 
 
 The Group 
 2009 
 Jamaican $ US$ Other Total

 J$’000 J$’000 J$’000 J$’000
Financial assets     
 Cash and bank balances 13,556 4,912 316 18,784

Deposits 1,707 111,002 9,435 122,144
Investment securities 521,445 1,212,736 192,488 1,926,669
Securities purchased under agreements to resell 296,084 532,964 - 829,048

      Trade and other receivables 149,929 - - 149,929
Total financial assets 982,721 1,861,614 202,239 3,046,574
Financial liabilities    
 Bank overdraft 2,610 - - 2,610
      Due to related parties 5,225 - - 5,225
 Loan liabilities  81,219 160,705 - 241,924

Finance lease liability  3,212 - - 3,212
Other liabilities 187,018 46,110 - 233,128

Total financial liabilities 279,284 206,815 - 486,099

Net position 703,437 1,654,799 202,239 2,560,475
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32. Financial Risk Management (Continued) 
  
 (a) Market risk (continued) 

(i) Currency risk (continued) 
 
Concentration of currency risk (continued) 
 

 The Company 
 2010 
 Jamaican $ US$ Total 

 J$’000 J$’000 J$’000 
  Financial assets    

    Cash and bank balances 3,123 1,608 4,731 
                 Deposit - 17,068 17,068 
                 Investment securities  8,068 256,515 264,583 
                 Securities purchased under agreements to resell 6,000 30,179 36,179 
                 Due from related parties 172,276 - 172,276 
                 Receivables 594 - 594 

Total financial assets 190,061 305,370 495,431 
Financial liabilities    

Bank overdraft 101 - 101 
Due to related parties  3,259 159,518 162,777 
Loan liabilities - 1,075,180 1,075,180 
Finance lease liability  180 - 180 
Other liabilities  41,188 - 41,188 

Total financial liabilities 44,628 1,234,698 1,279,426 
Net position 145,433 (929,328) (783,995) 

 
 
 

 
The Company 

 2009 
 Jamaican $ US$ Total 

 J$’000 J$’000 J$’000 
  Financial assets    
    Cash and bank balances 1,470 409 1,879 

                 Investment securities  8,211 233,391 241,602 
                 Securities purchased under agreements to resell - 3,371 3,371 
                 Due from related parties 181,561 - 181,561 
                 Receivables 3,916 - 3,916 

Total financial assets 195,158 237,171 432,329 
Financial liabilities    

Due to related parties  32,854 148,835 181,689 
Finance lease liability  1,313 - 1,313 
Other liabilities  48,592 - 48,592 

Total financial liabilities 82,759 148,835 231,594 
Net position 112,399 88,336 200,735 
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32. Financial Risk Management (Continued) 
  
 (a) Market risk (continued) 

 (i) Currency risk (continued) 
 

Foreign currency sensitivity 
 

The following tables indicate the currencies to which the group and company had significant exposure on its monetary assets 
and liabilities and its forecast cash flows.  The change in currency rate below represents management’s assessment of the 
possible change in foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis represents outstanding foreign currency denominated 
monetary items and adjusts their translation at the year-end for a 5% increase and 5% decrease (2009 - 5% increase and 1% 
decrease) in foreign currency rates.  The sensitivity of the profit was as a result of foreign exchange gains/losses on translation of 
US dollar-denominated monetary financial securities classified as available for sale and fair value through profit and loss foreign 
exchange losses/gains on translation of US dollar-denominated borrowings. The sensitivity of other components of equity was as 
result of translation gains/losses on foreign currency denominated equities classified as available for sale.  

 

  
The Group  

 
% Change in 

Currency Rate 

Effect on 
Profit 

 before Tax 

 
 

Effect on Other 
Component 

of Equity

% Change in 
Currency 

Rate 

Effect on 
 Profit 

before Tax 

Effect on Other 
Component of 

Equity

 
2010 

 
2010 
$’000 

2010 
$’000 

2009 
 

2010 
$’000 

    2010 
              $’000 

Currency:   

USD 5% (1,821) 38,755 5% 2,588          80,152 

USD -5% 1,821 (38,755) -1% (518)          (16,030) 
 

  

  The Company  

 
% Change in 

Currency Rate 

Effect on 
 Profit 

before Tax 

Effect on Other
Component 

of Equity

% Change in 
Currency 

 Rate 

Effect on 
Profit 

before Tax 

Effect on Other 
component

 of Equity

 
2010 

 
2010 
$’000 

2010 
$’000 

2009 
 

2009 
$’000 

2010 
              $’000 

Currency:   

USD 5% (40,161) - 5% 11,457 -

USD -5% 40,161 - -1%   (2,292) -
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32. Financial Risk Management (Continued) 
  

(a) Market risk (continued) 
 
 (ii) Interest rate risk 

Interest rate risk is the risk that the value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in 
market interest rates. 
 
Floating rate instruments expose the group and company to cash flow interest risk, whereas fixed interest rate instruments 
expose the group to fair value interest risk. 

 
The group’s and company’s interest rate risk policy requires it to manage interest rate risk by maintaining an appropriate mix of 
fixed and variable rate instruments.  The policy also requires it to manage the maturities of interest bearing financial assets and 
interest bearing financial liabilities.  
 
The following tables summarise the group’s and the company’s exposure to interest rate risk. It includes the group and company 
financial instruments at carrying amounts, categorised by the earlier of contractual repricing or maturity dates. 

 
 The Group 

 
Within 1 

Month 
 1 to 3 

Months
3 to 12 

Months 
 1 to 5 
Years 

Over  
5 Years  

Non-
Interest 
Bearing Total  

 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

At 31 December 2010:  

Financial assets  

Cash and bank balances 25,947 - - - - - 25,947

Deposits 13,252 - 18,887 - - - 32,139

Investment securities  - 30,182 268,469 341,435 563,288 803,395 2,006,769
Securities purchased 
 under agreements to 

resell 768,609 325,370 - - - - 1,093,979
Trade and other 

receivables - 25,515 - - - 187,379 212,894

Total financial assets 807,808 381,067 287,356 341,435 563,288 990,774 3,371,728

Financial liabilities   
Bank overdraft 101 - - - - - 101
Due to related parties - - - - - 5,225 5,225
Loan liabilities  1,191,542 386,376 13,586 - 1,591,504
Finance lease liability  - 180 - 9,664 - - 9,844
Other liabilities  - 27,716 - - 191,967 219,683

Total financial liabilities 1,191,643 180 414,092 9,664 13,586 197,192 1,826,357

Total interest repricing gap (383,835) 380,887 (126,736) 331,771 549,702 793,582 1,545,371

Cumulative interest 
 repricing gap (383,835) 2,948 (129,684) 202,087 751,789 1,545,371
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32. Financial Risk Management (Continued) 
  

(a) Market risk (continued) 
 
 (ii) Interest rate risk (continued) 
 The Group 

 
Within 1 

Month  
 1 to 3 

Months
3 to 12 

Months 
 1 to 5 
Years 

Over  
5 Years  

Non-
Interest 
Bearing Total  

 $’000  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

At 31 December 2009:    

Financial assets    
Cash and bank balances 18,784 - - - - - 18,784
Deposits 119,417 - 2,727 - - - 122,144
Investment securities  179,541 268,257 177,733 210,336 398,157 692,645 1,926,669
Securities purchased 
 under agreements to 
  resell 494,890 334,158 - - - - 829,048
Trade and other 

receivables 23,887 - - - - 126,042 149,929

Total financial assets 836,519 602,415 180,460 210,336 398,157 818,687 3,046,574

Financial liabilities    
Bank overdraft 2,610 - - - - - 2,610
Due to related parties - - - - - 5,225 5,225
Loan liabilities  228,338 13,586 - 241,924
Finance lease liability  - - - 3,212 - - 3,212
Other liabilities  27,846 2,338 - - - 202,944 233,128

Total financial liabilities 258,794 2,338 - 3,212 13,586 208,169 486,099

Total interest repricing gap 577,725 600,077 180,460 207,124 384,571 610,518 2,560,475

Cumulative interest 
 repricing gap 577,725 1,177,802 1,358,262 1,565,386 1,949,957 2,560,475 
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32. Financial Risk Management (Continued) 
  
 (a) Market risk (continued) 

  
(ii)  Interest rate risk (continued) 

 
 The Company 

 
Within 1 

Month 
 1 to 3 

Months
3 to 12

 Months 
 1 to 5 
Years 

Over  
5 Years  

Non-Interest 
Bearing Total  

 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

At 31 December 2010:    

Financial assets    
Cash and bank balances 4,731 - - - - - 4,731
 Deposit - - 17,068 - - - 17,068
Investment securities  132,501 127,854 4,228 264,583
Securities purchased 

under agreements to 
resell 21,364 14,815 - - - - 36,179

Due from related parties    172,276 172,276
Receivables    594 594

Total financial assets 26,095 14,815 149,569 - 127,854 177,098 495,431

Financial liabilities     
Bank Overdraft 101 - - - - - 101
Due to related parties - - 159,518 - - 3,259 162,777
Loan liabilities 688,804 - 386,376 - - - 1,075,180
Finance lease liability  - 180 - - - - 180
Other liabilities  - - - - - 41,188 41,188
Total financial liabilities 688,905 180 545,894 - - 44,447 1,279,426

Total interest repricing gap (662,810) 14,635       (396,325) - 127,854 132,651 (783,995)

Cumulative interest 
repricing gap (662,810) (648,175) (1,044,500) (1,044,500) (916,646) (783,995)
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32. Financial Risk Management (Continued) 
  
 (a) Market risk (continued) 

  
(ii)  Interest rate risk (continued) 

 The Company 

 
Within 1 

Month 
 1 to 3 

Months
3 to 12

 Months 
 1 to 5 
Years 

Over  
5 Years  

Non-Interest 
Bearing Total  

 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

At 31 December 2009:    
Financial assets    

Cash and bank balances 1,879 - - - - - 1,879
Investment securities - - -  138,265 99,121 4,216 241,602
Securities purchased 

under agreements to 
resell 3,371 - - - - - 3,371

Due from related parties - - - - - 181,561 181,561
Receivables - - - - - 3,916 3,916

Total financial assets 5,250 - - 138,265 99,121 189,693 432,329
Financial liabilities    

Due to related parties - - 178,398 - - 3,291 181,689
Finance lease liability  - - - 1,313 - - 1,313
Other liabilities  - - - - - 48,592 48,592
Total financial liabilities - - 178,398 1,313 - 51,883 231,594

Total interest repricing gap 5,250 - (178,398) 136,952 99,121 137,810 200,735

Cumulative interest 
repricing gap 5,250 5,250 (173,148) (36,196) 62,925 200,735
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32. Financial Risk Management (Continued) 
  
 (a) Market risk (continued) 

  
(ii) Interest rate risk (continued) 

Interest rate sensitivity 
 

The following tables indicate the sensitivity to a reasonable possible change in interest rates, with all other variables held constant, on 
the group’s and company’s income statement and stockholders’ equity. 
 
The group’s and company’s interest rate risk arises from investment securities, securities purchased under agreements to resell and 
long term borrowings. The sensitivity of the income statement is the effect of the assumed changes in interest rates on net income 
based on floating rate financial assets and floating rate liabilities.The sensitivity of other components of  equity is calculated by 
revaluing fixed rate available-for-sale financial assets for the effects of the assumed changes in interest rates.   

 
 

The Group  The Company 
 Effect on 

Profit before 
Taxation 

Effect on Other 
Components of 

Equity  

Effect on  
Profit before 

Taxation 

Effect on Other 
Components of 

Equity 
 2010 

$’000 
2010 
$’000 

 2010 
$’000 

2010 
$’000 

Change in percentage points:      
+ 2 4,391 (1,860)  (4,978) (303) 
-  1 

(1,392)                      1,453  5,038 304 

  

 
The Group  The Company 

 

Effect on 
Profit before 

Taxation  

Effect on  
Other 

Components of 
Equity  

Effect on  
Profit before 

Taxation  

Effect on Other 
Components of 

Equity
 2009 

$’000 
2009 
$’000 

 2009 
$’000 

2009
$’000

Change in percentage points: 
     

+ 2 14,161 (6,115)                    68 (1,228) 
-  6 (42,484)                 18,474                 (203)                  5,490 
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32. Financial Risk Management (Continued) 
  
 (a) Market risk (continued) 

 
(iii) Price risk 

Price risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate as a result of changes in market prices, whether those 
changes are caused by factors specific to the individual instrument or its issuer or factors affecting all instruments traded in the 
market.  The group and company are exposed to equity price risk because of investments held by the group and company 
classified on the respective statements of financial position either as available-for-sale or at fair value through profit or loss.  The 
group manages its price risk by trading these instruments when appropriate to reduce the impact of any adverse price 
fluctuations. 
 
The impact total stockholders’ equity (before tax) of a 10% (2009- 10%) increase/decrease in equity prices is an 
increase/decrease of $80,339,000 and $422,000 (2009 – $69,264,000 and $422,000) for the group and company respectively. 

 
(b) Credit risk 

 Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will fail to discharge an obligation and cause the other party to incur a 
financial loss. The group and the company have significant concentrations of credit risk in Government of Jamaica issued securities. 
The group and company have policies in place to ensure that property rentals and services are made to customers with an 
appropriate credit history. Cash transactions are limited to high credit quality financial institutions. The group manages its credit risk by 
screening its customers, establishing credit limits, obtaining bankers’ guarantees or collateral for loans where applicable, the rigorous 
follow-up of receivables and ensuring investments are low-risk or, are held with sound financial institutions. 

 
(i) Trade receivables 

Trade receivables relate mainly to tenants of the group’s commercial properties. Receivables are monitored and followed up on a 
regular basis and provisions made as deemed necessary based on an estimate of amounts that would be irrecoverable, 
determined by taking into consideration past default experience, current economic conditions and expected receipts and 
recoveries once impaired. 
 

(ii) Investments 
The group limits its exposure to credit risk by investing mainly in liquid securities, with counterparties that have high credit quality and 
Government of Jamaica securities.  Accordingly, management does not expect any counterparty to fail to meet its obligations. 
 

(iii) Guarantees 
The group’s policy is not to provide financial guarantees to any other party than wholly owned subsidiaries.  
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32. Financial Risk Management (Continued) 
  

(b) Credit risk (continued) 
                

Maximum exposure to credit risk 
 

 Maximum exposure 
 The Group  The Company 
 2010  2009  2010  2009 

 $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000 

Credit risk exposures relating to on statement 
of financial position items are as follows:        

Assets:        

Cash and bank balances 25,947  18,784  4,731  1,879 

Deposits 32,139  122,144  -  - 

Available-for-sale securities 1,185,013  1,221,752  256,515  233,391 
Fair value through profit and loss             

                             securities 6,244  -  -  -  

Loans and receivables 12,117  12,272  3,840  3,995 

Securities purchased under agreements 
to resell 1,093,979  829,048  53,247  3,371 

Trade and other receivables 212,894  149,929  -  - 

Due from related parties -  -  172,276  181,561 

 2,568,333  2,353,929  490,609  424,197 

        
 

Credit risk exposures relating to assets not 
recorded on the statement of financial 
position         

                      Lease commitments 855,430  811,958  -  - 
 

The above table represents a worst case scenario of credit risk exposure to the group and company at 31 December 2010 and 2009, 
without taking account of any collateral held or other credit enhancements. For assets carried on the statement of financial position, the 
exposures set out above are based on net carrying amounts as reported in the statement of financial position. An impairment loss was 
recognised by the group for the year ended 31 December 2010 for $24,322,000 for certain investment securities (2009 – $9,441,000).  
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32. Financial Risk Management (Continued) 
  
 (b) Credit risk (continued) 

  
(i) Trade receivables 

The following table summarises the group’s and company’s credit exposure for trade receivables at their carrying amounts, as 
categorised by the customer sector: 

 

 The Group The Company 

 
2010 
$’000  

2009 
$’000 

2010 
$’000  

2009 
$’000 

Commercial 10,780  31,880 -  - 

Retail 11,560  10,600 -  - 

Managed properties 27,081  32,940 -  - 

   49,421  75,420 -  - 

Less: Provision for credit losses (3,701)  (11,923) -  - 

 45,720  63,497 -  - 

 
Credit quality of trade receivables are summarized as follows:   

 

 The Group The Company 

 
2010 
$’000  

2009 
$’000 

2010 
$’000  

2009 
$’000 

  Neither past due nor impaired - 

Standard 37,052  55,918 -  - 

  Past due but not impaired  8,668  7,579 -  - 

  Impaired  3,701  11,923 -  - 

  Gross 49,421  75,240 -  - 

  Less: Provision for credit losses (3,701)  (11,923) -  - 

  Net 45,720  63,497 -  - 

 
All trade receivables are receivable from customers in Jamaica.  

  
  

(ii) Aging analysis of past due but not impaired trade receivables: 
 

 The Group  The Company 

 
2010 
$’000  

2009 
$’000  

2010 
$’000  

2009 
$’000 

31 to 60 days 470  2,824  -  - 

61 to 90 days 695  52  -  - 

Over 90 days 7,503  4,703  -  - 

 8,668  7,579  -  - 

 
The amounts above include managed properties fees receivables of $32,940,000 (2008 - $39,082,000) (Note 18).  There are no 
financial assets other than trade receivables that are past due. 
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32. Financial Risk Management (Continued) 

 
 (b) Credit risk (continued) 
 

(iii) Investments 
 

The following table summarises the credit exposure of the group and company to businesses and government by sectors in respect 
of investments (excluding equities, investments in subsidiaries and associated companies): 
 

 The Group 
 

The Company 

 2010  2009 
 

2010  2009 
 $’000  $’000   $’000  $’000  

Government of Jamaica 821,038  852,074  256,515  233,391 
Corporate 1,508,454  1,333,142  40,019  7,366 

 2,329,492  2,185,216  296,534  240,757 
 

 
(c) Liquidity risk  

Liquidity risk is the risk that the group is unable to meet its payment obligations associated with its financial liabilities when they fall 
due. Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and marketable securities, the availability of funding 
through an adequate amount of committed credit facilities and the ability to close out market positions.  

 
Liquidity risk management process 
 
The group’s liquidity management process, as carried out within the group and monitored by the Investment Committee, includes: 

 
(i) Monitoring future cash flows and liquidity on a weekly basis. This incorporates an assessment of expected cash flows and the 

availability of high grade collateral which could be used to secure funding if required;  

(ii) Maintaining a portfolio of highly marketable and diverse assets that can easily be liquidated as protection against any 
unforeseen interruption to cash flow; 

(iii) Maintaining committed lines of credit; 

(iv) Optimising cash returns on investment; and 

(v) Managing the concentration and profile of debt maturities. 
 

The matching and controlled mismatching of the maturities and interest rates of assets and liabilities is fundamental to the 
management of the group.  It is unusual for companies ever to be completely matched since business transacted is often of 
uncertain term and of different types. An unmatched position potentially enhances profitability, but can also increase the risk of loss. 
 
The maturities of assets and liabilities and the ability to replace, at an acceptable cost, interest-bearing liabilities as they mature, are 
important factors in assessing the liquidity of the group and its exposure to changes in interest rates and exchange rates. 
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32. Financial Risk Management (Continued) 
  

(c) Liquidity risk (continued) 
 

Financial assets and liabilities cash flows 
 
The tables below summarises the maturity profile of the group’s and company’s financial assets and liabilities at 31 December based 
on contractual undiscounted payments.  

 
 The Group 

 
Within 1 

Month 
1 to 3 

Months 
 3 to 12 
Months 

 1 to 5 
 Years 

Over 
 5 Years  

No Specific
Maturity Total  

 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000  $’000 $’000 

As at 31 December 2010    

Financial assets    

Cash and bank balances 26,197 - - - - - 26.197

Deposits 13,258 - 19,117 - - - 32,375

Investment securities 5,433 51,711 337,161 565,406 672,594 803,305 2,435,610

Securities purchase under 
agreements to resell 769,923 325,463 - - - - 1,095,386

Trade and other receivables - 87,216 31,341 85,341 - - 203,898

Total financial assets  
(contractual maturity dates) 814,811 464,390 387,619 650,747 672,594 803,305 3,793,466

    

Financial liabilities    

Bank overdraft 101 - - - - - 101

Due to related parties - - - - 5,225 - 5,225

Loans 1,191,542 793 411,616 19,020 18,342 - 1,641,313
Finance leases 311 765 2,187 10,673 - - 13,936

Other liabilities 62,828 52,909 114,438 1,900 - - 232,075

Total financial liabilities  
  (contractual maturity  

date) 1,254,782 54,467 528,241 31,593 23,567 - 1,892,650 

Net Liquidity Gap (439,971) 409,923 (140,622) 619,154 649,027 803,305 1,900,816

Cumulative Liquidity Gap (439,971) (30,048) (170,670) 448,484 1,097,511 1,900,816

 

Total financial assets (expected 
maturity dates) 814,811 464,390 387,619 650,747 672,594 803,305 3,793,466

Total financial liabilities 
(expected maturity dates) 65,612 55,627 1,262,146 398,119 367,060 - 2,148,564

Net Liquidity Gap 749,199 408,763 (874,527) 252,628 305,534 803,305 1,644,902

Cumulative Liquidity Gap 
(expected maturity dates) 749,199 1,157,962 283,435 536,063 841,597 1,644,902
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32. Financial Risk Management (Continued) 
  

(c) Liquidity risk (continued) 
 
Financial assets and liabilities cash flows (continued) 

 
 The Group 

 
Within 1 

Month 
1 to 3 

Months 
 3 to 12 
Months 

 1 to 5 
 Years 

Over 
 5 Years  

No Specific
Maturity Total  

 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000  $’000 $’000 

As at 31 December 2009    

Financial assets    

Cash and bank balances 18,784 - - - - - 18,784

Deposits 119,516 - 2,884 - - - 122,400

Investment securities 49,162 360,172 302,896 442,795 549,804 692,645 2,397,474

Securities purchase under 
agreements to resell 496,139 337,398 - - - - 833,537

Trade and other receivables 24,030 73,506 52,536 - - - 150,072

Total financial assets  
(contractual maturity dates) 707,631 771,076 358,316 442,795 549,804 692,645 3,522,267

Financial liabilities    

Bank overdraft 2,610 - - - - - 2,610

Due to related parties - - - - 5,225 - 5,225

Loans 228,733 793 3,566 19,020 18,342 - 270,454

Finance leases 417 514 2,310 318 - - 3,559

Other liabilities 28,116 110,158 95,054 - - - 233,328

Total financial liabilities  
 (contractual maturity date) 259,876 111,465 100,930 19,338 23,567 - 515,176

Net Liquidity Gap 447,755 659,611 257,386 423,457 526,237 692,645 3,007,091

Cumulative Liquidity Gap 447,755 1,107,366 1,364,752 1,788,209 2,314,446 3,007,091

 
Total financial assets (expected 

maturity dates) 707,631 771,076 358,316 442,795 549,804 692,645 3,522,267

Total financial liabilities 
(expected maturity dates) 46,722 262,514 109,561 64,673 55,994 - 539,464

Net Liquidity Gap 660,909 508,562 248,755 378,122 493,810 692,645 2,982,803

Cumulative Liquidity Gap 
(expected maturity dates) 660,909 1,169,471 1,418,226 1,796,348 2,290,158 2,982,803
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32. Financial Risk Management (Continued) 
  

(c) Liquidity risk (continued) 
 
Financial assets and liabilities cash flows (continued) 

 
 The Company 

 
Within 1 

Month 
1 to 3 

Months
 3 to 12 
Months 

 1 to 5
 Years 

Over 5 
Years  

No Specific
Maturity Total  

 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000  $’000 $’000 

 As at 31 December 2010:  

 Assets  

Cash and bank balances 4,731 - - - - - 4,731 

Deposits - - 17,189 - - - 17,189 

Investment securities 5,134 - 140,666 41,072 155,070 4,228 346,170 
Securities purchased under 

agreements to resell 21,386 14,863 - - - - 36,249 

Due from related parties - - - 172,276 - - 172,276 

Receivables - - 594 - - - 594 

Total financial assets  
 (contractual maturity 

dates) 31,251 14,863 158,449 213,348 155,070 4,228 577,209 
      

Liabilities      
Overdraft 101 - - - - - 101 

Due to related parties 15,338 2,164 150,737 3,259 - - 171,498 

Loans 688,804 - 408,050 - - - 1,096,854 

Finance lease - 211 - - - - 211 

Other liabilities  - - 41,188 - - - 41,188 
Total financial liabilities 
 (contractual maturity 

dates) 704,243 2,375 599,975 3,259 - - 1,309,852 

 Net Liquidity Gap (672,992) 12,488 (441,526) 210,089 155,070 4,228 (732,643)

 Cumulative Liquidity Gap (672,992) (660,504) (1,102,030) (891,941) (736,871) (732,643)  
 



Notes to the Financial Statements
31 December 2010

(expressed in Jamaican Dollars unless otherwise indicated)

87ANNUAL REPORT
2 0 1 0

P a n - J a m a i c a n  I n v e s t m e n t  T r u s t  L i m i t e d

 Page 68 

 

32. Financial Risk Management (Continued) 
  

(c) Liquidity risk (continued) 
 
Financial assets and liabilities cash flows (continued) 

 The Company 

 
Within 1 

Month 
1 to 3 

Months
 3 to 12 
Months 

 1 to 5
 Years 

Over 5 
Years  

No Specific
Maturity Total  

 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000  $’000 $’000 

As at 31 December 2009:  

Assets  

Cash and bank balances 1,879 - - - - - 1,879

Investment securities 5,358 - 21,054 184,292 92,854 4,216 307,774
Securities purchased under 

agreements to resell 3,381 - - - - - 3,381

Due from related parties - - - 181,561 - - 181,561

Receivables - - 3,916 - - - 3,916

Total financial assets  
(contractual maturity 
dates) 10,618 - 24,970 365,853 92,854 4,216 498,511

  

 Liabilities  

Due to related parties - - 194,066 - - - 194,066
Finance lease 253 185 830 185 - - 1,453

Other liabilities  - - 48,592 - - - 48,592

Total financial liabilities 
 (contractual maturity 

dates) 253 185 243,488 185 - - 244,111

 Net Liquidity Gap 10,365 (185) (218,518) 365,668 92,854 4,216 254,400 

 Cumulative Liquidity Gap 10,365 10,180 (208,338) 157,330 250,184 254,400

 
  

(d) Capital management 
 

The group’s objectives when managing capital are to provide superior returns for stockholders and benefits for other stakeholders, 
while maintaining a conservative capital structure. The Board of Directors monitors the return on capital, which the group defines as 
net profit attributable to equity holders divided by total stockholders’ equity, excluding non-controlling interest. The Board of Directors 
also monitors and approves the level of dividends to ordinary stockholders. 
 
The group will from time to time purchase its own shares on the market for employees share option plans purposes, the timing of 
which depends on the prevailing market prices. 
 
There were no changes to the group’s approach to capital management during the year. 
 
The company and its subsidiaries have no externally imposed capital requirements. 
 

33. Fair Value of Financial Instruments 
  
 Fair value is the amount for which an asset could be exchanged, or a liability settled, between knowledgeable, willing parties in an arm’s length 

transaction. Market price is used to determine fair value where an active market (such as a recognised stock exchange) exists as it is the best 
evidence of the fair value of a financial instrument. For financial instruments where no market price is available, the fair values presented have 
been estimated using present value or other estimation and valuation techniques based on market conditions existing at statement of financial 
position dates. 
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33. Fair Value of Financial Instruments (continued) 
 

The fair value of financial liabilities for disclosure purposes is estimated by discounting the future contractual cash flows at the current market 
interest rate that is available to the group for similar financial instruments. 

 
 The values derived from applying these techniques are significantly affected by the underlying assumptions used concerning both the amounts 

and timing of future cash flows and the discount rates. The following methods and assumptions have been used: 
 
(a) Cash and deposits, receivables, payables and related party balances reflect their approximate fair values due to the short term 

nature of these instruments; 
  
(b) Investment securities classified as available-for-sale and financial assets at fair value through profit and loss are measured at fair 

value by reference to quoted market prices or valuation techniques such as discounted cash flow model; 

(c) The fair value of variable rate financial instruments is assumed to approximate their carrying amounts;  

(d) The fair value of fixed rate loans is estimated by comparing market interest rates when the loans were granted with current market 
rates offered on similar loans; and 

(e) Equity securities for which fair values cannot be measured reliably are recognised at cost less impairment. 
 
 
 The following financial assets and financial liabilities are not carried at fair value: 

The Group 
Carrying Fair  Carrying Fair

Value Value  Value Value

2010 2010  2009 2009
$’000 $’000  $’000 $’000 

 Financial assets   
Investment in associated companies 7,422,757 6,604,112  6,003,954 6,502,369

  Loans and receivables 12,117 11,510  12,272 11,568
 

The Company 

2010 2010  2009 2009
 $’000 $’000  $’000 $’000 

Investment in associated companies 199,819 247,909  199,819 251,615

  Loans and receivables 3,840 3,233  3,995 3,298

 
 The Group 

 2010 2010  2009 2009
 $’000 $’000   $’000 $’000 
 Financial Liabilities      

Loan liabilities 1,591,504 1,576,891 238,275 241,925

  Finance lease liability 9,844 13,936 3,212 3,559

 
 The Company 
 2010 2010  2009 2009

 $’000 $’000   $’000 $’000 
Loan liabilities 1,075,180 1,069,520 1,000 977

  Finance lease liability 180 211 1,313 1,453

  
Balances for other financial assets and liabilities carried at amortised cost, approximates their fair value because of their short- term nature. 
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33. Fair Value of Financial Instruments (Continued) 
 

Effective 1 January 2009, the group adopted the amendment to IFRS 7 for financial instruments that are carried on the statement of 
financial position at fair value. The amendment requires disclosure of fair value measurements by level of the following fair value 
measurement hierarchy: 
 
(a) Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (level 1). 
(b) Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (that is, as prices) or 

indirectly (that is, derived from prices) (level 2). 
(c) Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (that is, unobservable inputs) (level 3). 

 
The following table presents the group’s financial assets that are measured at fair value at 31 December: 

The Group
Level 1 Level 2  Level 3 Total

 $’000 $’000  $’000 $’000 
 As at 31 December 2010      
 Financial assets      

                  Investment securities 803,395 959,213  232,044 1,994,652 

 
 As at 31 December 2009      
 Financial assets      

                  Investment securities 692,645 887,537  334,215 1,914,397 

 
 The Company

 Level 1 Level 2  Level 3 Total

$’000 $’000  $’000 $’000  
 As at 31 December 2010      
 Financial assets      

                  Investment securities 4,228 256,515  - 260,743 

 

 As at 31 December 2009      

 Financial assets      

                  Investment securities 4,216 233,391  - 237,607 

 
The quoted market price used for financial assets held by the group is current bid price.  These instruments are included in level 1.  Instruments 
included in level 1 comprise primarily equity investments classified as financial assets at fair value through profit and loss and available for sale. 
 
The fair value of financial instruments that are not quoted on an exchange is determined by using valuation techniques.  These valuation 
techniques maximize the use of observable market data where it is available and rely as little as possible on entity specific estimates.  If all 
inputs required to fair value an instrument are observable, the instrument is included in level 2. 
 
If one or more of the significant inputs is not based on observable market data, the instrument is included in level 3. 
 
Specific valuation techniques used to value financial instruments include: 
 
(i) Quoted market prices or dealer quotes for similar instruments 
(ii) Other techniques, such as discounted cash flow analysis used to determine fair value for the remaining financial instruments. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 Page 71 

 

 
 

 
34. Litigation and Contingent Liabilities 
 
 The company and its subsidiaries are subject to various claims, disputes and legal proceedings, as part of the normal course of business.  

Provision is made for such matters, when, in the opinion of management, it is probable that a payment will be made by the group, and the 
amount can be reasonably estimated. 

 
 In respect of claims asserted against the group which, according to the principles outlined above, have not been provided for, management is of 

the opinion that such claims are either without merit, can be successfully defended or will result in exposure to the group which is immaterial to 
both financial position and results of operations. 
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Directors’ 
Stockholdings
as at 31 December 2010

Directors’ And Connected Parties Stockholdings
			   Stockholding 
			   in which
     		   Personal	  Director/Officer
		  Stockholdings 	 has an interest

Richard O. Byles	 118,866	 Nil
W. G. Bryan Ewen	  Nil	 Nil
Maurice W. Facey     	    143,256 	 82,429,253 
Stephen B. Facey	 3,444,133	 79,128,376
Paul A. B. Facey	 2,957,143	 79,615,366
Kathleen A. J. Moss	 10,000	 Nil
Donovan H. Perkins	 37,969	  1,000
T. Matthew Pragnell	 Nil	 Nil
				  
	

Stockholdings of Senior Management
Stephen B. Facey	 3,444,133	 79,128,376
Paul A. B. Facey	 2,957,143	 79,615,366
Paul R. Hanworth	 10,000	 Nil

Substantial Interest

1	 Boswell Investments Limited	 44,670,380* 
2	 Sagicor Pooled Equity Fund	 23,719,831 
3	 Orange Hall Estates Limited 	 17,163,959* 
4	 National Insurance Fund	 7,628,605
5	 Scotia Jamaica Investment Mgmt. A/C 3119	 5,025,342
6	 Caenwood Securities Limited	 4,024,570* 
7	 Facey, Stephen and Wendy	  3,444,133 
8	 Cecil Boswell Facey Foundation	 3,440,000* 
9	 Guardian Life of the Caribbean	 3,281,066 
10	 Facey, Paul 	 2,957,143 

Total stocks in issue – 173,535,078
Total no. of stockholders – 2,620

*Connected Parties



Form of Proxy

I/We	

of	

being a Member(s) of PAN-JAMAICAN INVESTMENT TRUST LIMITED  hereby appoint

	

of	  

or failing him/her	

of	

as my/our Proxy, to vote for me/us on my/our behalf at the Annual General Meeting of the said Company to be held 

on Tuesday, June 21, 2011 at 2:30 p.m. at the 12th Floor, 60 Knutsford Boulevard, Kingston 5, or any adjournment 

thereof.

Signed this                                      day of                                                2011

					     Signature                                                                                      

(If executed by a Corporation, the Proxy should be sealed.)

Resolutions For Against

1
2
3 (a)
3 (b)
3 (c)
4
5
6

N.B.	The instrument appointing proxy must be produced at the meeting or adjourned meeting at which it is 
to be used, and in default not to be treated as valid.  The Proxy Form must be lodged at the Company’s 
Registered Office not later than forty-eight hours before the meeting.

PLACE
$100

STAMP
HERE
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